# **University of Alberta**

# Initial Adhesion of EPS Producing Bacteria *Burkholderia cepacia* – the Impact of Cranberry Juice

by

Xuejiao Yang

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Master of Science in Environmental Engineering

Civil and Environmental Engineering

©Xuejiao Yang Fall, 2010 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

# **Examining Committee**

Ian Buchanan, Civil and Environmental Engineering

Hongbo Zeng, Chemical and Materials Engineering

Yang Liu, Civil and Environmental Engineering

ABSTRACT: The impact of cranberry juice was investigated with respect to the initial adhesion of three isogenic Burkholderia cepacia bacteria with different extracellular polymeric substance (EPS) producing capacities: a wildtype cepacian EPS producer PC184, mutant bacteria PC184rml with reduced EPS production, and PC184bceK with a deficiency in EPS production. Adhesion experiments demonstrated that in the presence of cranberry juice, the adhesive capacity of PC184 was largely reduced, while cranberry juice had little impact on the adhesion of either mutant. Thermodynamic modeling supported results from adhesion experiments. For PC184, the surface free energy change  $\Delta$ Gadh switched from negative in the absence of cranberry juice to positive when cranberry juice was added. Surface force apparatus (SFA) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM) studies demonstrated strong adsorption of cranberry juice components to bacterial EPS. It was concluded that cranberry juice components could impact bacterial initial adhesion by adhering to EPS and impairing bacterial adhesive capacity.

KEYWORDS: bacterial adhesion; cranberry juice; EPS; surface free energy; interaction forces.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my great gratitude to my supervisors, Dr. Yang Liu, without whose academic and financial supports, this thesis would not have been completed. I also would like to thank Dr. Ian Bechanan and Dr. Hongbo Zeng, who served as members of final oral examining committee for my dissertation. Their critiques and suggestions are greatly appreciated and valuable.

I am grateful to the following peoples for their kindness and great help provided to me in the course of implementing this research. Dr. Jonathan J. Dennis of the Biological Sciences provided bacteria strain, *Burkholderia cepacia* PC184 and its mutants for my research. Dr. Hongbo Zeng of the Department of Chemical & Material Engineering allowed me to use their laboratory to conduct particle characterization measurements. He also helped me with the surface force measurement and data analysis. Dr. Ming Chen of Surgical Medical Research Institute saved me a lot of time by performing Electron microscope imaging in high quality.

I would also like to thank staffs and my colleagues in our department, Maria Demeter, Jela Buekus, Jody Yu, Zhiya Sheng, and Robert Lerner. Their kind help made the implementing process of the research project in this department go successfully. Finally, I would like to thank my family for their support and encouragement that accompanied me throughout my experience at University of Alberta.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter I Introduction1			
Chapter II Literature Review	5		
2.1 Principles of biofilm formation and bacteria adhesion	5		
2.1.1 The distribution, formation and function of biofilms	5		
2.1.2 The principles and processes of bacterial initial adhesion	9		
2.2 Biofilm control and bacterial adhesion inhibition	16		
2.2.1 Biofilm control and removal in environmental engineering	16		
2.2.2 The inhibition of bacterial adhesion	18		
2.2.3 Cranberry – the natural inhibitor of bacterial adhesion	19		
2.2.4 Burkholderia cepacia	20		
2.3 Adhesion models	21		
Chapter III Methodology	23		
3.1 Materials	23		
3.1.1 Cranberry juice cocktail	23		
3.1.2 Bacterial culture.	23		
3.1.3 Polycarbonate surfaces	24		
3.2 Experimental Methods	25		
3.2.1 Bacterial adhesion.	25		
3.2.3 Contact angle measurements	26		

3.2.4 EPS extraction
3.2.5 Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) imaging
3.2.6 Surface force measurement
3.2.7 Model development
Chapter IV Results
4.1 The effect of cranberry juice on bacterial survival33
4.2 The effect of cranberry juice on bacterial electrokinetic potential. 34
4.3 Contact angles and Gibbs free energy changes
4.3.1 Contact angles and surface tension changes in PBS and cranberry
juice
4.3.2 Gibbs free energy changes
4.3.3 Lifshitz–van der Waals and acid–base components of $\Delta$ Gadh41
4.4 Adhesion experiments in flow cells41
4.5 SEM images of bacteria cells43
4.6 Surface force measurements using an SFA45
Chapter V Discussion
5.1 Impact of surface EPS on bacterial surface characteristics50
5.2 Impact of cranberry components on bacterial surface EPS51
5.3 DLVO theory and bacterial adhesion54
5.4 Thermodynamic model and bacterial adhesion56
5.5 Implications of SFA adhesion measurement57

Chapter VI Summary and Recommendations for Future Research60
REFERENCES

# **List of Figures**

Figure 2- 1 Scanning electron micrographs of biofilms from Devon
wastewater treatment plant, Alberta, Canada
Figure 2- 2 Three stages in biofilm establishment
Figure 2- 3 Descriptions of the bacteria-substratum adhesion (modified from
Busscher and Weerkamp, 1987)11
Figure 3- 1 Electrokinetic characterization of bacterial cells
Figure 3- 2 Schematic diagram of the SFA setup
Figure 4-1 Surface zeta potential of three B. cepacia strains: PC184 (wild-
type EPS producng strain), PC184rml (mutant with deficiency in
rhamnose EPS production), and PC184bceK (mutant with deficiency in
EPS production) as a function of cranberry concentrations. Error bars
represent standard deviations of 10 replicate measurements

- Figure 4- 7 "Hard wall" distance vs. time after solution injection between two mica surfaces (n.b. the "hard wall" is defined as the mica-mica separation at which the thickness of the confined polymers becomes asymptotic with increasing the normal load or pressure) for three

different cases: EPS in 0.01 M PBS (■), EPS in 0.01 M PBS with 4.5% cranberry juice (●), and 0.01 M PBS with 4.5% cranberry juice (▲)..49

# List of Tables

Table 2- 1 Effects and environmental relevance of undesired biofilms      8
Table 4- 1 Viable bacteria cell counting in 0.01 M PBS and 27 wt. %
cranberry juice
Table 4- 2 Contact angles of bacteria in 0.01 M PBS and 9, 18 or 27 wt. %
cranberry juice with three probe liquids
Table 4- 4 Gibbs free energy change of three bacteria strains in 0.01 M PBS
and 9, 18 or 27 wt. % cranberry juice
Table 4- 3 Surface tension components of three bacteria strains in 0.01 M PBS
and 9, 18, or 27 wt. % cranberry juice40
Table 5-1 Adhesion results of PC184 treated with and without 18 wt. %
cranberry juice

# List of Symbols, Nomenclature, or Abbreviations

EPS: extracellular polymeric substances

SFA: surface force apparatus

SEM: scanning electron microscope

CBJ: cranberry juices

DLVO: Derjaguin, Landau, Verwey and Overbeek theory

PBS: phosphate buffered saline

# **Chapter I Introduction**

#### 1.1 Overview

Microorganisms have a natural tendency to attach to beneficial surfaces as a survival mechanism. This can occur in both natural and engineering environments, including the living host, natural water systems, and industrial systems. The general result of bacterial colonization on substrata is the establishment of biofilms, which consist of immobilized microorganism embedded in extracellular polymeric substances (EPS).

It is known that biofilms provide significant protection to bacterial cells against unfavorable environmental factors. The stratified structure of environmental biofilms harboring mixed microbial communities protects microbial processes occurring underneath the surface layer of biofilms and make biofilm reactors up to 500 times much more resistant to toxicity than suspension cultures (Characklis, 1990). This is not only due to the physiological changes of biofilm bacteria enhancing their resistance to biocides, but also to a barrier function of the EPS. Other effects include nutrient reserve and digestion, resistance to toxic and antibiotic substances, and hydrate conservation.

In the engineered systems, formation of microbial biofilms is unfavorable in many occasions and causes physical, chemical and biological problems. For example, in water conduits, biofilms may result in unusual high fluid frictional resistance losses. Biofilms formed inside of heat transfer tubes significantly reduce the heat transfer rate (Characklis, 1981). Undesired biofilm accumulation increases the operation costs, introduces health risks and reduces the instrument performance. As a result, those biofilms must be removed or inhibited. However, the practice of biofilm control and removal still stays in its developing step.

Traditional practice for removing microbial biofilms in engineered systems relies mainly on the disinfectant treatment, including chlorine, ozone and ultraviolet light. However, because of the wide distribution and high resistance of microbial biofilms to disinfectants, novel strategies are needed. Bacterial adhesion to a solid surface is an essential step for biofilm formation, and this step is mainly dependent on van der Waals, electrostatic, and acid-base interactions. These interactions are influenced by physicochemical properties of the substratum and the bacterial surface, such as hydrophobicity, surface charge, and electron donorelectron acceptor properties. More research is now focused on reducing biofilm formation through inhibiting bacterial initial adhesion. These attempts include the exploration of desirable inhibitors to bacteria adhesion or colonization, and surface modification to produce incompatible surface for bacteria settlement. These types of approach are desirable as mechanical methods are not needed.

Cranberry juice is known to inhibit bacterial initial adhesion (Eydelnant and Tufenkji, 2008). However, the mechanisms controlling its impact on bacterial initial adhesion are still unknown. For instance, EPS producing bacteria represent one of the most common types of bacteria widely distributed in natural and engineered environments, which infect plant and animal tissues, establish biofilms, and coaggregate into flocs. The EPS play a key role in mediating adhesion and colonization. However, though cranberry was recognized to impair bacteria adhesion capacity, a complete understanding at the nano-scale of how cranberry components interact with bacteria and reduce their adhesive capability is lacking.

The research reported in this thesis was undertaken to elucidate the mechanisms involved in EPS producing bacterial initial adhesion in the presence of cranberry juice, to determine the ability of cranberry juice to reduce the extent of bacterial adhesion, and to gain insight into the impact of bacterial surface EPS on their response to cranberry juice treatment.

## **1.2 Objectives**

The objectives of this study were to gain a fundamental understanding of the mechanisms controlling the impact of cranberry juice on EPS producing bacterial initial adhesion in aquatic systems. Specific objectives are as follows:

1. To examine the impact of bacterial EPS on their adhesion in the presence of cranberry juice.

2. To explore the fundamental mechanisms involved in the initial stages of EPS producing bacteria adhesion in the presence of cranberry juice, and to gain

insight into the extent to which bacterial surface polymers influence bacteria adhesion.

3. To model bacterial initial adhesion mechanisms using DLVO and thermodynamic models.

## **1.3 Organization of the dissertation.**

Following the introduction, Chapter 2 will review recent publications and background theories in the research area, including background information on biofilm establishment, bacteria adhesion process and the inhibitory properties of cranberry juice.

Chapter 3 will introduce the experimental approaches to investigate the adhesion process of bacteria and anti-adhesive mechanisms of cranberry juice. Chapter 4 will describe the results of each experiment. Chapter 5 will discuss the results of the adhesion research and offer several conclusions.

Findings from this master's research are summarized in Chapter 6, some thoughts for future research are also provided.

# **Chapter II Literature Review**

# 2.1 Principles of biofilm formation and bacteria adhesion

#### 2.1.1 The distribution, formation and function of biofilms

Microorganisms are able to attach tightly onto almost any surface submerged in an aqueous environment. The microbial cells are immobilized on surfaces, reproduce and produce EPS, developing a tangled matrix of fibers that provides the supporting structure of a biofilm (S.P.Denyer et al., 1993). Biofilms can consist of either a monolayer of cells or can be as thick as 3-4 mm. A thick biofilm can contain both aerobic and anaerobic environments due to oxygen diffusion limitations within the biofilm (Characklis and Marshall, 1990). Biofilm processes are manifest in many forms and are studied by researchers from a wide variety of disciplines.

Biofilms can serve beneficial purposes in the natural environment as well as in modulated or engineered systems. For example, biofilms are responsible for the removal of dissolved and particulate contaminants from natural streams in wastewater treatment plants, such as trickling filters, rotating biological contactors (RBC) and fluidized beds (Tchobanoglous et al., 2003). Figure 2-1 shows an SEM image of microbial biofilms obtained from the Devon wastewater treatment plant in Alberta.



Figure 2- 1 Scanning electron micrographs of biofilms from Devon wastewater treatment plant, Alberta, Canada

However, not all biofilms are favorable or beneficial. Biofilm accumulation in plants and animals causes diseases, and they frequently cause operational problems in engineered systems. Biofilms accumulate in water and wastewater conduits, porous media, and ship hulls, causing higher fluid frictional resistance, increased energy losses, and reduced performance. Biofilms on sensors, separation membranes, filter medium, submarine periscopes and sight glasses reduce the performance of these devices. Public health risks may be increased by the formation and detachment of biofilms from drinking water distribution systems and cooling towers (Flemming and Schaule, 1996).

Biofouling is a problem in water pipes and industrial cooling water systems, as well as submerged engineering surfaces, even when anti-fouling protection is employed. In industrial cooling systems, fouling is primarily due to microbial biofilms and particulate matter, which reduces the heat transfer efficiency and increases the pressure drop in the system, leading to the increased operation costs. Biofouling of submerged metal structures, such as oil platforms, leads to corrosion and metal fatigue. Fouling of moving structures such as ships by biofilms composed chiefly of diatoms, leads to losses of operating efficiency due to increased frictional resistance and drag. Table 2-1 summarizes the effects and environmental relevance of undesired biofilms in engineering systems.

Process	Effects
Biofilm accumulation inside of heat exchangers, cooling towers (Lee and West, 1991; Liu et al., 2009), and wastewater pipelines (Costerton and Lashen, 1984)	Increasing heat transfer resistance, energy losses, causing corrosion on materials, and reducing system performance and lifetime
Biofilm formation on sensors, separation membranes (Ivnitsky et al., 2007; Chae et al., 2008), and filter media (Williams and Edyvean, 1998)	Causing biofouling, porous block,; decreasing equipment lifetime and water quality
Biofilm accumulation and detachment in drinking water distribution systems	Decreasing water quality and raising public health risks
Biofilm accumulation on ship hulls, cooling towers, pipelines (Costerton and Lashen, 1984), and oil platforms (Ferreira et al., 2006)	Increasing frictions and drag; leading to head losses, metal fatigue and higher costs
Biofilm accumulation on teeth(Sen et al., 1997), urinal and intestinal tract, medical devices and implants (Nickel et al., 1985; Jacques and Costerton, 1987)	Health risks and diseases

Table 2-1 Effects and environmental relevance of undesired biofilms

The formation of a biofilm in natural or engineered environments follows the same strategy, starting with the attachment of free suspended microorganisms to a surface. Figure 2-2 provides a scheme of initial bacterial adhesion and colonization, followed by which biofilms can develop. Usually, these colonies

adhere to the surface initially through weak, reversible interactions including van der Waals forces or electrostatic forces. If the colonies do not immediately detach from the surface, they can anchor themselves more tightly using cell adhesion structures such as pili or fimbriae (S.P.Denyer et al., 1993).



Figure 2-2 Three stages in biofilm establishment

These first colonies facilitate the arrival of following cells by providing various adhesion sites and by initiating the buildup of the EPS matrix that holds the microorganisms together. Once colonization has begun, the biofilm develops by cell reproduction and attachment. The final stage of biofilm formation is known as maturity, in which the biofilm is established and may only change in shape and size. The development of a biofilm may allow for the aggregated cell colonies to be increasingly antibiotic resistant (Jost Wingender, 1999).

## 2.1.2 The principles and processes of bacterial initial adhesion

Bacterial initial attachment is the first step in the colonization of surfaces and precedes the process of consolidation, during which the initially weak adhesive

forces are strengthened by EPS formation and, finally, by reproduction to form an established biofilm. This adhesion of microorganisms onto various substrata is a complicated physico-chemical and biological process, which serve an important role in the survival of microorganisms in niches, tracts, and pipelines. The attachment process involves an interaction between complementary molecules on the approaching surfaces of the cell and the substratum. The rate of attachment and the affinity of the interaction reflect an interplay between microbial and substratum surface characteristics, and fluid shear stress. Macromolecules or polymers expressed by organisms participate in the adhesion process, and are controlled by several regulatory mechanisms. Different bacteria have different cell surface properties and secrete different biopolymers (i.e. fimbriae, lipopolysaccharide (LPS)), which function as adhesins or onto which adhesions can assemble (Cuatrecasas and Greaves, 1980; Tuomanen, 1986).

Bacteria adhere to substrata only if the repulsive forces are overcome by adhesive forces. They adhere by ionic interactions (Coulombic interactions that result from interactions between molecular groups that contain net permanent opposite charges), hydrogen bond (the attractive force between the hydrogen attached to an electronegative atom of one molecule and an electronegative atom of another molecule) (Pimente and McClellan, 1990), hydrophobic effects (Doyle and Rosenberg, 1990), or coordination complexes involving multivalent metal ions. Figure 2-3 shows several typical attractive forces facilitating bacterial adhesion and their operation distances. The interaction free energy profile described the change of contribution to the total energy that is caused by the approaching of the bacterial and substratum surfaces.



Figure 2- 3 Descriptions of the bacteria-substratum adhesion (modified from Busscher and Weerkamp, 1987)

The bacterial adhesion process is a complex composite driven by forces from various resources. According to the interaction types, bacterial adhesion can be divided into two types, specific and non-specific. Specific interactions only exist between adhesin-receptor pairs. A typical example for the specific interaction in bacterial adhesion is that between a lectin and a carbohydrate (Ofek et al., 1977; Mirelman, 1986). In contrast, a much less specific adhesion is the case of a hydrophobic bacterium that binds to any hydrophobic surface.

Non-specific interactions exist widely between bacteria and various surfaces, which include Lifshitz-van der Waals (LW) forces, electron-donor /electron-acceptor, and electrostatic interactions (as shown in Figure 2-3). Although non-specific interactions are usually much weaker than specific interactions, they determine whether bacteria will be able to approach close enough to a surface.

### 2.1.3 Bacterial EPS: characterization, structure and function

Most microorganisms live and reproduce in aggregated forms such as biofilms and flocs. The common feature of these phenomena is that the microorganisms are embedded in a matrix of EPS. EPS form a three-dimensional, gel-like, highly dehydrated and often charged biofilm matrix in which the microorganisms are embedded and more or less immobilized. EPS are mainly responsible for the structural and functional integrity of biofilms and are considered as the key components that determine the physico-chemical and biological properties of biofilms.

# **Definition of EPS**

EPS were defined as "extracellular polymeric substances of biological origin that participate in the formation of microbial aggregates" (Geesey, 1982). Biofilm forming microorganisms tend to produce EPS when they attach to a surface, or when they are surrounded by high numbers of bacteria (J. Wingender, 1999). The EPS are implicated in the initial bacterial attachment to surfaces and subsequent biofilm formation. EPS are comprised of polysaccharides (Costerton et al., 1981), proteins (Frolund et al., 1996), phospholipids, humic substances, and nucleic acids (Frolund et al., 1996; Nielsen et al., 1997). These substances form a layer of slime on the surface of many gram-negative bacteria (Stephen M. Hammond, 1984).

## **Composition and function of EPS**

From various analyses of activated sludge flocs, biofilms, or exopolymers from fresh water bacteria, a very heterogeneous composition of the EPS was obtained (Brown and Lester, 1980; Urbain et al., 1993; Jahn and Nielsen, 1995). Main organic fractions are proteins and carbohydrates (Horan and Eccles, 1986), and humic substances (Liu and Fang, 2002). Considerable amounts of extracellular deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and ribonucleic acid (RNA) were discovered in microbial biofilm EPS as well (Steinberger and Holden, 2005).

According to the physical state of the EPS, determined by environmental factors such as pH and ions, EPS are divided into "bound EPS" and "soluble EPS" (Nielsen et al., 1997). Bound EPS include sheaths, capsular polymers, condensed gel, loosely bound polymers, and attached organic material. Soluble EPS are soluble macromolecules, colloids and slimes (Hsieh et al., 1994). Figure 2-4 shows the configuration of bound EPS and soluble EPS.



Figure 2- 4 Definition of bacterial EPS (modified from (Jost Wingender, 1999)

# **EPS in biofilms**

In general, one of the most important roles of EPS is to provide a fundamental adhesive matrix responsible for the mechanical stability of biofilm, which is mediated by non-covalent interactions (Flemming and Schaule, 1996; Mayer et al., 1999). The EPS matrix promotes bacterial adhesion to inert substrata and also enables the biofilm cells to attach to the surface. Another function frequently attributed to EPS is their protective effects on biofilm organisms against unfavorable abiotic and biotic substances in the environment. The ability of certain EPS to absorb toxic metals such as Cd, Zn, Pb, Cu and Sr suggests that the presence of these polymers would protect other microbial cells in a mixed culture biofilm (Norberg and Persson, 1984). Also, EPS are able to increase the

biofilm resistance to biocides, by delaying or preventing biocides from reaching target cells within the biofilm. For example, previous research showed that the penetration of chlorine into biofilm matrix can be significantly reduced by the presence of EPS (Debeer et al., 1994).

In addition, EPS in biofilms can indirectly store and digest nutrients. The main function of the proteins in EPS was suggested to be producing certain types of enzymes, which are often used to digest exogenous macromolecules and particulate material in the microenvironment of the immobilized cells. Macromolecules enmeshed in the biofilm matrix could be degraded by extracellular enzymes and converted to usable oligomers or monomers. Further, the EPS matrix is highly hydrated, and may thus assist in the cell survival under desiccation conditions (Hughes et al., 1998).

## **EPS in bacterial adhesion**

EPS compose bridges for cell-cell or cell-substratum interactions, and can mediate bacterial initial adhesion or colonization on surfaces, facilitate the aggregation of bacterial cells and the formation of flocs and biofilms, and result in adhesion of pathogens to plants or animals. It was proven that bacteria with EPS exhibit a higher adhesive capacity than those with a low EPS producing capacity. EPS serve as adhesins and increase bacterial adhesive forces (Quintero and Weiner, 1995; Fang et al., 2000). EPS may mediate the adhesion of bacteria to tissue surfaces and protect bacteria from the host defense mechanisms, allowing for bacterial growth or biofilm formation (Jost Wingender, 1999). In addition, EPS are believed to promote a spatial organization of cells that promotes the interactions between cells and other surfaces (Jost Wingender, 1999). Previous studies showed that ionic strength, pH, and the presence of multivalent ions could impact bacterial EPS configuration and charge, thus interfering with bacterial adhesion to solid surfaces (Liu et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2008).

# 2.2 Biofilm control and bacterial adhesion inhibition

As discussed above, biofilms introduce various problems in engineering and public health, which can lead to significant increases in maintenance and operational costs. This highlights the need for effective strategies to control or minimize biofilm formation. However, biofilms are highly resistant to disinfectant or antibiotics due to the EPS protection, and are difficult to remove once initial adhesion occurs. Current disinfection technologies used to deal with biofilms are often ineffective, costly and often based on toxic biocides.

## 2.2.1 Biofilm control and removal in environmental engineering

Traditional disinfection methods for biofilm removal include chlorine, ozone and ultraviolet light (UV). However, problems such as high dosage rates and extended contact time make these processes less feasible for biofilm disinfection.

Biocides are currently the primary mitigation method to control biofilm formation. However, biofilms serve as protective niches for bacteria inside and are highly resistant to the bactericidal action of antibiotics. In addition, the use of antibiotics may give rise to the variation of antibiotic resistant strains (S.P.Denyer et al., 1993). For instance, in drinking water systems, injecting monochloramine or free chlorine into water systems has been the most popular choice for water disinfection by many water undertakings for a long time. The secondary disinfecting residual concentrations of monochloramines routinely range between 0.1 and 0.5 mg/L, which is regarded as sufficient to control coliform problems (Mara and Horan, 2003). There is, however, increasing evidence showing that even at relatively high concentrations, these disinfectants are still ineffective in controlling either heterotrophic bacteria or coliforms. It was reported that Legionella pneumophila, E. coli and Aeromonas. hydrophila survive in an established biofilm at a monochloramine concentration of 0.2 - 4mg/L for weeks (Williams and Braun-Howland, 2003). Moreover, the feasibility of injecting sufficient disinfectant into water distribution systems or pipelines is still questionable due to the health risks and ecology concerns.

In view of the wide-ranging implications of microbial fouling for industries, coupled with increased environmental awareness resulting in the decreased use of biocides to control fouling, there have been interests in developing nonbiocidal methods to prevent biofilm establishment. Mechanical method is one of the most commonly used alternative in industrial and engineering biofilm removal. For example, high pressure water jets (Granhag et al., 2004) can be calibrated to remove spores from the various topographic structures. Vortex mixed with air and water is adopted by the Gold Bar wastewater treatment plant in Edmonton, Alberta to remove the biofilms from pipelines. However, this operation requires pauses of relevant processes and disrupts regular operations. This method is not suitable for more delicate sensor components.

# 2.2.2 The inhibition of bacterial adhesion

Since initial bacterial adhesion is an essential step in biofilm formation, the interruption of bacterial initial adhesion to solid surfaces may become an effective alternative for biofilm control.

Surface modification with the addition of anti-adhesive compounds makes substrate surfaces less attractive for microorganisms and therefore prevents bacterial adhesion and biofilm formation. Non-sticky coatings with low surface energy polymers, and biocide coatings impregnated with biocides were developed to protect surfaces from biofouling (Whelan and Regan, 2006). Silicone, polydimethylsiloxane, fluoropolymers, phosphorylcholine and polyethylene oxide have low surface energies and were investigated to prevent and ease biofouling (Whelan and Regan, 2006). Nanocomposite coatings were produced by using anisotropic nanoparticles (Wong and Ho, 2009) to inhibit bacterial adhesion and showed promising results in fouling-release properties. However, due to the limitations of coating materials, coating techniques, durability, scales and costs, the surface modification is still in its infant stage, and their application is only limited in sensor membrane protection (Wisniewski and Reichert, 2000). Moreover, the life time of the modification coatings and the influences of the shedding coating materials are still unknown. Consequently, effective, safe and economical strategies are still needed to decrease the adhesion of bacteria on surfaces.

## 2.2.3 Cranberry – the natural inhibitor of bacterial adhesion

The American red cranberry (*Vaccinium macrocarpon*) has been recognized for inhibiting the bacterial adhesion to solid surfaces (Howell and Foxman, 2002; Eydelnant and Tufenkji, 2008; Liu et al., 2008). However, the wide application of cranberry for preventing initial bacterial adhesion in engineered systems is hindered due to a lack of understanding of cranberry anti-adhesive mechanisms. A complete understanding of how cranberry components interact with bacteria and reduce their adhesive capability is lacking.

Several recent studies showed that cranberry influences bacterial initial adhesion through altering bacterial surface characteristics or gene expression (Ahuja et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2006; Johnson et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2008). Incubation in media supplemented with cranberry juice or high molecular weight proanthocyanidin (PAC) from cranberries resulted in an interfacial tension increase between bacterial cell surfaces and polyvinyl chloride (PVC) and polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE), making attachment thermodynamically unfavorable (Ahuja et al., 1998). Cranberry juice has also been shown to change bacterial morphology and inhibit *Escherichia coli* P-fimbriae expression leading to reduced fimbrial adhesion (Ahuja et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2006). Additional gene expression studies demonstrated that the morphology change in *E. coli* is due to the down regulation of flagellar basal body rod and motor protein (Johnson et al., 2008). The mechanisms of the phenomenon were not clear, and several studies revealed that cranberry juice may change bacterial surface morphology, inhibit the expression or regulation of fimbriae (Ahuja et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2009).

## 2.2.4 Burkholderia cepacia

The *Burkholderia cepacia* complex (BCC) is a closely related family of gramnegative betaproteobacteria that are metabolically diverse and highly antibiotic resistant (Seed and Dennis, 2005), and are found in various environments (Mahenthiralingam et al., 2005). BCC species are ecologically beneficial in the natural environment (Parke and Gurian-Sherman, 2001), but are an important group of bacterial pathogens to animals and humans (Seed and Dennis, 2005; Lynch and Dennis, 2008). Because BCC bacteria are able to utilize various compounds as carbon sources, including groundwater pollutants and chlorinated aromatic substrates that are found in pesticides and herbicides, they have been widely used as bioremediation agents (Lessie et al., 1996; Parke and Gurian-Sherman, 2001). *B. cepacia* was also isolated from drinking water. Characterization and biofilm cultivation showed that *B. cepacia* had higher growth rate and motility than most of other microorganisms, indicating their competitive advantage in co-cultured biofilms.

Most *B. cepacia* isolates produce considerable amounts of EPS, which are believed to facilitate the bacterial infection in niches such as the human body (Bartholdson et al., 2008). In recent publications (Cerantola et al., 2000; Richau et al., 2000), *B. cepacia* EPS were characterized and found to produce mainly one kind of EPS, which has the primary structure shown in Figure 2-5. This type of EPS is composed of a branched acetylated heptasaccharide repeating unit with D-glucose, D-rhamnose, D-galactose, and D-glucuronic acid, in the ratio 1:1:1:3:1 (Cescutti et al., 2000).

$$\beta \text{-D-Gal}p - (1 \rightarrow 2) - \alpha \text{-D-Rha} p$$

$$\uparrow \qquad 1$$

$$\uparrow \qquad 4$$

$$[3) - \beta \text{-D-Glc} p - (1 \rightarrow 3) - \alpha \text{-D-Glc} p \text{A} - (1 \rightarrow 3) - \alpha \text{-D-Man} p - (1 \rightarrow ]_n$$

$$2 \qquad 6$$

$$\uparrow \qquad \uparrow \qquad 1$$

$$1 \qquad 1$$

$$D - \alpha \text{-Gal} p \qquad D - \beta \text{-Gal} p$$

Figure 2-5 The repeating unit of EPS of *B. cepacia* (Cescutti et al., 2000)

#### 2.3 Adhesion models

A number of models have been developed to characterize the adhesion of bacteria to surfaces or substrata, such as the Derjaguin, Landau, Verwey and Overbeek (DLVO) model and its extensions (Simoni et al., 1998; Ong et al., 1999), the thermodynamic (surface tensions) model (van Oss, 1994), and the steric model. By resorting to these models, the essential process and mechanisms of bacterial adhesion can be investigated. In this study, both DLVO and thermodynamic models were adopted because of their wide application and relative accuracy.

The DLVO model is based on the DLVO theory named after Derjaguin, Landau, Verwey and Overbeek, describing the forces between charged surfaces interacting through a liquid medium (Hermansson, 1999). It takes the effects of the van der Waals attraction and the electrostatic repulsion into account. The electrostatic part of the DLVO interaction is computed in the mean field approximation in the limit of low surface potentials and the radius of the approaching spheres.

The thermodynamic model calculates the surface energy change for the adhesion of small particles or microbial cells from a suspension onto a solid substratum. This model follows that the extent of adhesion is determined by the surface properties of all three phases involved, i.e., the surface tensions of the adhering particles, the substrate, and the suspending liquid medium (van Oss, 1994).

# **Chapter III Methodology**

# **3.1 Materials**

#### 3.1.1 Cranberry juice cocktail.

Cranberry juice cocktail (Ocean Spray Cranberries, Inc., Lakeville-Middleboro, MA), containing 27 wt. % cranberry juice (Liu et al., 2006), was obtained commercially, and dilutions of the cocktail to 9 and 18 wt. % cranberry juice with 0.01 M phosphate buffered saline (PBS) were prepared. The cranberry juice cocktail (27 wt.% cranberry juice) has an ionic strength of  $0.955 \times 10^{-2}$  M (Liu et al., 2006). Sodium chloride was added into the cranberry juice to equalize the ionic strength of cranberry juice with 0.01 M PBS through electronic conductivity measurements. The pH of cranberry juice solutions were measured using a pH meter, and are 4.00, 2.98 and 2.56 for 9, 18 and 27 wt.% cranberry juice, respectively.

### **3.1.2 Bacterial culture.**

Deposition on polycarbonate coupons was examined in *B. cepacia* complex strains PC184, PC184*rml*, and PC184*bceK* obtained from Dr. Jonathan Dennis, Department of Biological Science, University of Alberta. PC184 is a wild-type cepacian EPS producer. PC184*rml* is an isogenic mutant strain of PC184 with a rhamnose producing deficiency (Vinion-Dubiel and Goldberg, 2003) that causes the mutant to produce a reduced amount of EPS. PC184*bceK* is an isogenic
mutant of PC184 with no EPS producing capability (Moreira et al., 2003). Of the three strains tested, PC184*bceK* produces the least amount of EPS.

Bacteria were cultured in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth at 37°C and harvested at midlog-growth phase (16 hours). Cells were harvested by centrifugation (Avanti J-20I, Beckman Coulter, CA) at 4000 rpm at 4°C for 10 min. The growth medium was decanted and pellets were resuspended in cranberry juice solutions (9, 18, and 27 wt. %). The centrifugation-resuspension process was repeated three times to remove traces of growth media. A final cell density of approximately 10<sup>8</sup> CFU/mL was determined by optical density (OD) of 0.1 using a UV/visible spectrophotometer (Varian, Inc., CA) at a wavelength of 600 nm.

#### **3.1.3** Polycarbonate surfaces

In this study, polycarbonate surfaces were adopted to test the adhesive capacity of wild type *B. cepacia* (normal EPS production) and isogenic mutants (reduced EPS production) in the absence or presence of cranberry juice. Polycarbonate is a type of plastic widely applied in medical devices, food processing, electronics industry, construction and other engineering areas, with high-performance, great thermo-oxidative stability, optical transmittance, solvent resistance, and toughness (Stokes, 1995). Being easily shaped, moulded, and thermoformed, polycarbonate is frequently molded into tubes, membranes, packing materials and resins. In this study, polycarbonate was obtained from the Biosurface Technologies (MT, USA) and cut into round disks, with a thickness of 1 mm and a diameter of 10 mm.

#### **3.2 Experimental Methods**

#### 3.2.1 Bacterial adhesion.

Bacterial initial adhesion to polycarbonate coupons was examined using a dual channel parallel plate flow chamber (dimensions,  $L \times W \times H$ : 39.5 × 13 × 0.32 mm, Model FC271, Biosurface Technologies, MT). Polycarbonate coupons (10 mm diameter  $\times$  2 mm thickness) soaked in 70% ethanol were sonicated in sterilized deionized (DI) water for 15 min to remove contaminants, and then mounted in the flow cell channel. The system was equilibrated with bacteria free 0.01M PBS or cranberry suspension (9, 18, or 27 wt. %) at 3 mL/min for 20 min. Bacteria suspensions  $(1 \times 10^8 \text{ CFU/mL})$  were injected into the flow cell at a constant flow rate of 3 mL/min for 10 min. Disks were carefully removed from the flow cell and rinsed 3 times with bacteria free 0.01M PBS or cranberry suspension to remove unbound cells. To remove surface-attached bacteria, the sampling coupons were placed in a 2 mL centrifuge tube containing 1 mL of 0.01 M PBS, ultrasonicated for 10 minutes (FS 30H, Fisher Scientific Inc., IL), and then vortexed (Genie 2, Fisher Scientific Inc., IL) at maximum speed for 30 seconds. This ultrasonication-vortexing process has been shown to efficiently dissociate bacteria from coupons (Liu et al., 2007; Liu and Li, 2008; Liu et al., 2008). Viable bacterial cell counts were obtained using the drop plate method (Liu and Li, 2008). A series of 10-fold dilutions was performed and 10 µL of each dilution was plated onto an LB agar plate; dilutions were plated in triplicate. Bacteria counts were obtained after incubating the plates at 37°C for 16 h.

Bacteria adhesion experiments were conducted at room temperature (23°C) and were repeated at least 4 times.



Figure 3- 1 Electrokinetic characterization of bacterial cells (figure of flow cell obtained from Biosurface Technologies)

The chemical and physical properties of cells in 0.01M PBS or cranberry juice (9, 18, and 27 wt. %) were characterized by measuring the zeta potential and electrophoretic mobility of the solutions at room temperature with a ZetaPALS, Zeta Potential Analyzer (Brookhaven Instruments Corp, NY). At least three samples were tested for each condition, and the measurements were replicated 10 times with 30 cycles for each assay.

# **3.2.3** Contact angle measurements.

The interfacial tensions of individual substrata were derived from the contact angles of three probe liquids, one nonpolar (diiodomethane) and two polar

(glycerol and ultrapure water), using the sessile drop method (Miller et al., 1993). Bacterial cells were incubated with 0.01 M PBS or cranberry juice (9, 18, or 27 wt. %) for 2 h. Lawns of bacteria were prepared by filtering 5 mL of cell suspension (10<sup>8</sup> cells ml<sup>-1</sup> in early stationary phase) onto a cellulose acetate filter (0.45 µm pore size, 25 mm diameter, Millipore, USA) via vacuum. When a vacuum was applied, bacterial cells were compacted into a homogeneous lawn, reducing deviation in contact angles ( $\theta$ ) caused by the roughness of the lawn surface, and preventing permeation of sessile droplets of liquid. The lawns were further exposed to air at room temperature for 1 h to evaporate excess residual liquid adhering to the bacterial lawn (Vanloosdrecht et al., 1987). Previous studies have shown that contact angle measurements on bacterial lawns are stable for 3 h (Vanloosdrecht et al., 1987). 2 µL droplets of the probe solutions were placed on the bacterial lawns; images were captured and analyzed with a goniometer at room temperature and ambient humidity within 2 s. The contact angle was measured and given by the goniometer based on the shape of the sessile drop. At least three replicated measurements were conducted per probe liquid per filter, and four filters were analyzed for each combination of bacteria and probe liquid.

#### 3.2.4 EPS extraction.

EPS components were isolated from the bacterial surface by ethanol extraction (Gong et al., 2009). A detailed description of an EPS extraction procedure was reported by Gong et al.(2009), and is briefly summarized here. Freshly harvested

bacterial cells were resuspended in 10 mL of 8.5% sodium chloride containing 0.22% formaldehyde and incubated at 4°C for 2 h. The suspension was then centrifuged at 3,700 × g at 4°C for 15 min, and the cell pellets were resuspended in 10 mL DI water. The centrifugation process was repeated to remove remaining cellular material (non-EPS). Pellets were collected and weighed, and resuspended in 50 mL DI water per gram of pellet. The resuspensions were sonicated and centrifuged to collect purified EPS in the pellet. Pellets were treated overnight at 4°C in 5 mL  $10^{-2}$  M KCl and 10 mL pure ethanol, and centrifuged again to collect the pellet containing pure EPS.

## 3.2.5 Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) imaging.

Fresh harvested bacteria were suspended in PBS or 18% cranberry juice. The bacterial suspension was dropped on a microscope glass cover, and fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde in PBS buffer for 30 min. Bacterial suspension was then washed 3 times with PBS and were further fixed with 1% OsO4 in PBS buffer for 30 min. Bacteria were dehydrated in a serial of 50%, 70%, 90% and 100% ethanol, and followed by critical point drying with CO2 at 31 °C for 5 min. The samples were sputter coated with gold (Edwards, Model S150B, U.K.) and then examined with the Hitachi Scanning Electron Microscope S-2500. Each sample was examined at least 10 times under several different magnitudes (×20,000; ×15,000; ×12,000), and the images were compared.

#### 3.2.6 Surface force measurement.

Interaction forces and normal force-distance profiles between EPS and cranberry juice were determined using a surface force apparatus (SFA) (Israelachvili, 1992; Leckband, 1995; Israelachvili et al., 2010) that measured the force F as a function of absolute surface separation D and the local geometry of two interacting surfaces with a force sensitivity of  $\sim 1$  nN and an absolute distance resolution of 0.1 nm measured in situ (Israelachvili, 1992; Leckband, 1995; Leckband and Israelachvili, 2001; Zeng et al., 2006; Zeng et al., 2007; Zeng et al., 2008; Israelachvili et al., 2010). An SFA 2000 (Surforce LLC, Santa Barbara, CA) was used to investigate the fine details of interactions between EPS and cranberry juice. A detailed setup for SFA experiments has been previously reported (Israelachvili, 1992; Zeng et al., 2007; Israelachvili et al., 2010). Basically, a thin mica sheet of  $1-5 \mu m$  was glued onto a cylindrical silica disk (radius R = 2 cm). The two curved and coated mica surfaces were then mounted in the SFA chamber in a crossed-cylinder geometry, which roughly corresponds to a sphere of radius R approaching a flat surface based on the Derjaguin approximation:  $F(D) = 2\pi RW(D)$ , where F(D) is the force between the two curved surfaces and W(D) is the interaction energy per unit area between two flat surfaces (Israelachvili, 1992). The measured adhesion or "pull-off" force  $F_{ad}$  is related to the adhesion energy per unit area  $W_{ad}$  by  $F_{ad} = 2\pi R W_{ad}$  for rigid (undeformable) surfaces with weakly adhesive interactions, and by  $F_{ad}$  =  $1.5\pi RW_{ad}$  (used in this study) for soft deformable surfaces with strong adhesive contact (Israelachvili, 1992). In the experiments, 30-50 mL of EPS in PBS

solution with or without cranberry juice was injected between the two mica surfaces (as illustrated in Figure 3-2). The absolute surface separation *D* was monitored in real-time during the force measurement using multiple beam interferometry employing fringes of equal chromatic order (FECO) (Israelachvili, 1992; Israelachvili et al., 2010). Experiments were performed at room temperature (23°C).



Figure 3-2 Schematic diagram of the SFA setup

## 3.2.7 Model development.

The van Oss-Chaudhury-Good thermodynamic approach. Surface free energy change,  $\Delta G_{adh}$ , representing the Gibbs free energy change for interactions between two different surfaces, can be determined by the surface tension  $\gamma$ , and the relative contributions to  $\gamma$  from Lifshitz–van der Waals ( $\gamma^{LW}$ ) and Lewis acid base ( $\gamma^{AB}$ ) components can be calculated by a method developed by van Oss et al (van Oss, 1994). Thus, interfacial tension can be expressed as:

$$\gamma = \gamma^{\rm LW} + \gamma^{\rm AB} \tag{1}$$

The AB component of the surface tension ( $\gamma^{AB}$ ) is defined to comprise all electron-acceptor–electron-donor, or Lewis acid-base interactions, given by

$$\gamma^{AB} = 2\sqrt{\gamma^+ \gamma^-} \tag{2}$$

The LW, electron donor and electron acceptor components,  $\gamma^{LW}$ ,  $\gamma^{-}$ , and  $\gamma^{+}$ , can be calculated from the contact angle measurement. Contact angles  $\theta$  for 2 µL droplets of water, diodomethane, and glycerol on different bacterial lawn surfaces are shown in Table 1. When a drop of a liquid (L) is deposited on a solid surface (S), the contact angle between the drop and the surface ( $\theta_L$ ) is a function of the components and parameters of the surface tensions of the liquid ( $\gamma_L$ ) and the solid ( $\gamma_S$ ). The Young–Dupre equation (van Oss, 1994) describes the relations among these elements:

$$\gamma_{\rm L}(\cos\theta_{\rm L}+1) = 2\sqrt{\gamma_{\rm S}^{\rm LW}\gamma_{\rm L}^{\rm LW}} + 2\sqrt{\gamma_{\rm S}^{+}\gamma_{\rm L}^{-}} + 2\sqrt{\gamma_{\rm S}^{-}\gamma_{\rm L}^{+}}$$
(3)

To solve the surface tension components of the solid,  $\gamma_S^{LW}$ ,  $\gamma_S^-$ , and  $\gamma_S^+$ , three probe solutions must be used to yield three equations. Surface tension components for liquid,  $\gamma_L^{LW}$ ,  $\gamma_L^-$ , and  $\gamma_L^+$ , are characteristic of the three probe liquids used; surface tensions of water, diiodomethane, and glycerol are designated  $\gamma_W$ ,  $\gamma_D$ ,  $\gamma_G$ , respectively. Substituting the values of  $\gamma_L^{LW}$ ,  $\gamma_L^-$ ,  $\gamma_L^+$  and  $\theta_L$  intoEquation (3) and combining three equations together, we obtain a matrix to solve for the solid surface tensions  $\gamma_S^{LW}$ ,  $\gamma_S^-$ , and  $\gamma_S^+$ :

$$\begin{bmatrix} \gamma_{\rm S}^{\rm LW} \\ \gamma_{\rm S}^{+} \\ \gamma_{\rm S}^{-} \end{bmatrix} = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} 2 \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\gamma_{\rm W}^{\rm LW}} & \sqrt{\gamma_{\rm W}^{-}} & \sqrt{\gamma_{\rm W}^{+}} \\ \gamma_{\rm D}^{\rm LW} & \gamma_{\rm D}^{-} & \gamma_{\rm D}^{+} \\ \gamma_{\rm G}^{\rm LW} & \gamma_{\rm G}^{-} & \gamma_{\rm G}^{+} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{\rm W}[\cos\theta_{\rm W} + 1] \\ \gamma_{\rm D}[\cos\theta_{\rm D} + 1] \\ \gamma_{\rm G}[\cos\theta_{\rm G} + 1] \end{pmatrix} \right\}^{2}$$
(4)

The total energy change  $\Delta G_{adh}$  can be expressed as a sum of LW and AB components. LW terms and AB terms can be collected to provide an alternate way to represent the different contributions to the Gibbs free energy change upon adhesion in aqueous media (van Oss et al., 1987):

$$\Delta G_{adh} = \Delta G_{adh}^{LW} + \Delta G_{adh}^{AB}$$
 (5)

where

$$\Delta G_{adh}^{LW} = \left(\sqrt{\gamma_{B}^{LW}} - \sqrt{\gamma_{PC}^{LW}}\right)^{2} - \left(\sqrt{\gamma_{B}^{LW}} - \sqrt{\gamma_{W}^{LW}}\right)^{2} - \left(\sqrt{\gamma_{PC}^{LW}} - \sqrt{\gamma_{W}^{LW}}\right)^{2} (6)$$

where  $\gamma_B$  and  $\gamma_{PC}$  represent the surface tension of bacterial cells and polycarbonate coupons, respectively, and

$$\Delta G_{adh}^{AB} = 2\left[\sqrt{\gamma_W^+}\left(\sqrt{\gamma_B^-} + \sqrt{\gamma_{PC}^-} - \sqrt{\gamma_W^-}\right) + \sqrt{\gamma_W^-}\left(\sqrt{\gamma_B^+} + \sqrt{\gamma_{PC}^+} - \sqrt{\gamma_W^+}\right) - \sqrt{\gamma_B^+\gamma_{PC}^-} - \sqrt{\gamma_B^-\gamma_{PC}^+}\right]$$
(7)

# **Chapter IV Results**

# 4.1 The effect of cranberry juice on bacterial survival.

To examine the effect of cranberry juice on bacterial survivability, bacterial cells were incubated in 0.01 M PBS, or cranberry juice (9, 18, or 27 wt. %) for 3 h at room temperature. As demonstrated in Figure 4-1, we verified that bacterial cells remained viable after exposure to cranberry juice for 3 h by comparing the remaining culturable bacteria number to the culturable bacteria count obtained from dilutions without cranberry. We did not detect any loss in bacterial viability indicating that the experimental concentrations of cranberry are not lethal to bacterial cells in 3h.

	Initial bacteria concentration (×10 <sup>8</sup> CFU/ml)	Bacteria concentration after incubation of 2h (×10 <sup>8</sup> CFU/ml)	
PC184			
0.01M PBS	3.7±1.5	2.3±0.6	
27 wt.% CBJ	3.3±0.6	1.7±0.6	
PC184rml			
0.01M PBS	3.3±1.5	2.7±1.2	
27 wt.% CBJ	4.3±2.5	2.6±1.5	
PC184bceK			
0.01M PBS	1.3±0.5	$0.7{\pm}0.6$	
27 wt.% CBJ	1.7±1.5	0.7±0.6	

Table 4-1 Viable bacteria cell counting in 0.01 M PBS and 27 wt. % cranberry juice

#### 4.2 The effect of cranberry juice on bacterial electrokinetic potential.

The variation in zeta potentials of bacterial cells as a function of cranberry juice concentration is shown in Figure 4-1. Despite the difference in magnitude, all strains exhibited negative zeta potentials indicating negative surface charge under the conditions tested. In the absence of cranberry juice, the absolute magnitude of zeta potential increased with reduced EPS coverage on bacterial surfaces. The reduced spatial negative charge density of the EPS producing bacterial cells can be attributed to the neutral cepacian EPS of *B. cepacia*, which is composed of a branched acetylated heptasaccharide repeating unit of D-glucose, D-rhamnose, D-galactose, and D-glucuronic acid, in a 1:1:1:3:1 ratio (Cescutti et al., 2000; Lagatolla et al., 2002).



Figure 4- 1 Surface zeta potential of three *B. cepacia* strains: PC184 (wild-type EPS producng strain), PC184*rml* (mutant with deficiency in rhamnose EPS production), and

PC184*bceK* (mutant with deficiency in EPS production) as a function of cranberry concentrations. Error bars represent standard deviations of 10 replicate measurements.

Upon exposure to cranberry juice, the zeta potential of all bacterial cells shifted in a positive direction, indicating that the bacterial surface charge was reduced in the presence of cranberry juice; this could be due to a reduced solution pH (the pH of the 27 wt. % cranberry juice used in our experiments was 2.56) or to the adsorption of cranberry components to bacterial surfaces. To evaluate the impact of pH on bacterial surface charge, experiments were performed to compare bacterial electronic kinetic charge in 0.01 M PBS at pH 7.4 and pH 2.6 (the pH of 0.01 M PBS was adjusted to 2.6 with 0.1 N HCl). A pH drop to 2.6 had only a small impact on the surface charge of EPS producing bacteria, PC184 and PC184rml (-7.4±2.2, -12.8±2.9 for PC184 in pH 2.6 PBS and pH 7.0 PBS, -7.6±1.5, -20.5±2.7 for PC184rml in pH 2.6 PBS and pH 7.0 PBS, respectively), but significantly affected the surface charge of non-EPS producing bacteria PC184bceK (-5.6±1.5, -29.55±3.1 PC184bceK in pH 2.6 PBS and pH 7.0 PBS, respectively). Slight reduction in surface charge with decreasing pH has been reported for EPS producing bacteria Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Klebsiella pneumonia, and Flavobacterium sp. (Liu et al., 2009). An alternative explanation for neutralization of bacterial charge with addition of cranberry juice would be adsorption of cranberry juice components onto the bacterial cell membrane and EPS. Cranberry juice contains abundant fructose, mannose, and condensed tannins, which are more positively charged than cepacian EPS (Habash et al., 2000), and are able to bridge negatively charged groups of EPS components and shift the zeta potential from negative to neutral (Habash et al., 2000). In the present study, pH change and cranberry component adsorption may both contribute to the bacterial cell electrokinetic property change observed.

## 4.3 Contact angles and Gibbs free energy changes

# 4.3.1 Contact angles and surface tension changes in PBS and cranberry juice.

Water contact angles increased in the wild type strain *B. cepacia* PC184 after exposure to cranberry juice (from 31.11° in 0.01 M PBS to 41–46° in all cranberry juice solutions as shown in Table 4-2). The diiodomethane and glycerol contact angles increased more significantly than the water contact angles after cranberry juice treatment. Using the contact angle values of the three probe liquids, interfacial tension components were calculated as a function of cranberry juice concentration for the three bacterial strains. As shown in Table 4-3, for PC184 bacteria,  $\gamma^{LW}$  decreased from 37.68 to 29.00 mJ m<sup>-2</sup> and  $\gamma^{AB}$ increased by an order of magnitude, from 1.29 to 14.70 mJ m<sup>-2</sup>, when PBS buffer was switched to 9 wt. % cranberry juice. Notably, the  $\gamma^{AB}$  of PC184 in 18 wt. % cranberry juice increased to 23.56 mJ m<sup>-2</sup>, indicating the acid-base interaction between bacteria and polycarbonate coupons was greatly increased in cranberry juice.

	Contact angles (degree) <sup>*</sup>		
	$\theta_{\mathrm{W}}$	$\theta_{\rm D}$	$\theta_{\rm G}$
PC184			
0.01M PBS	31.11±2.21	43.77±3.21	52.41±2.10
9 wt.% CBJ	44.33±2.49	58.13±2.32	69.18±4.53
18 wt.% CBJ	45.72±3.23	56.97±3.41	78.64±3.71
27 wt.% CBJ	41.63±1.89	59.27±3.02	69.28±6.57
PC184rml			
0.01M PBS	34.92±1.07	41.31±4.02	72.62±1.53
9 wt.% CBJ	39.29±4.81	36.79±2.87	82.76±6.90
18 wt.% CBJ	47.43±4.78	40.8±5.57	85.77±5.05
27 wt.% CBJ	41.45±3.96	43.29±5.27	78.99±3.55
PC184bceK			
0.01M PBS	44.11±4.95	46.44±2.64	82.44±1.79
9 wt.% CBJ	49.88±4.72	44.23±3.11	84.80±5.28
18 wt.% CBJ	49.58±4.46	40.89±4.92	88.52±5.23
27 wt.% CBJ	51.47±3.31	43.00±5.31	85.13±4.36

Table 4-2 Contact angles of bacteria in 0.01 M PBS and 9, 18 or 27 wt. % cranberry juice

with three probe liquids

 $^{*}\theta_{W_{2}}\theta_{D_{2}}\theta_{G}$ : contact angles of water, diiodomethane, and glycerol.

# Table 4-3 Surface tension components of three bacteria strains in 0.01 M PBS and 9, 18, or

#### 27 wt. % cranberry juice

	Surface tension parameters (mJ/m <sup>-2</sup> )**				
	$\gamma^{LW}$	$\gamma^+$	γ¯	$\gamma^{AB}$	$\gamma^{total}$
PC184					
0.01M PBS	$37.68 \pm 1.72$	$0.0072 \pm 0.0023$	$58.05 \pm 0.04$	1.29±0.72	29.59±0.24
9 wt.% CBJ	$29.64 \pm 1.33$	$0.79 \pm 0.19$	$67.63 \pm 3.70$	14.70±2.28	44.35±3.61
18 wt.% CBJ	$30.32 \pm 1,97$	$2.02 \pm 0.36$	$73.47\pm\!\!0.01$	24.37±2.16	54.69±0.20
27 wt.% CBJ	$29.00 \pm 1.75$	$0.57 \pm 0.46$	$70.05 \pm 4.31$	12.59±4.02	41.59±3.18
PC184rml					
0.01M PBS	$38.49 \pm 1.66$	$2.72 \pm 0.07$	$81.58 \pm 1.25$	29.80±0.63	58.10±0.63
9 wt.% CBJ	$41.18\pm\!\!1.40$	$7.14 \pm 1.13$	$90.74 \pm 8.67$	50.92±5.78	92.13±8.19
18 wt.% CBJ	39.21 ±2.94	$6.82 \pm 0.91$	$79.32 \pm 1.21$	46.51±2.66	85.72±1.80
27 wt.% CBJ	$37.92 \pm 2.89$	$4.22 \pm 1.11$	$80.47 \pm 6.82$	36.84±6.67	74.75±8.25
PC184 <i>bceK</i>					
0.01MPBS	$36.23 \pm 1.39$	$4.90\pm\!\!0.79$	$81.57 \pm 4.17$	39.99±2.98	68.29±5.68
9 wt.% CBJ	37.42 ±4.72	$5.43 \pm 1.52$	72.71 ±6.98	39.73±6.03	77.15±7.30
18 wt.% CBJ	39.16 ±2.59	$7.90 \pm 2.76$	$79.34 \pm 5.53$	50.08±7.23	89.23±6.79
27 wt.% CBJ	38.07 ±2.84	5.50 ±0.71	69.54 ±5.28	39.12±3.98	77.19±4.02

<sup>\*\*</sup> $\gamma^{LW}$ ,Lifshitz-van der Waals component of interfacial tension;  $\gamma^+$ ,  $\gamma^-$ , electron acceptor and electron donor components of interfacial tension;  $\gamma^{AB}$ , Lewis acid-base component of interfacial tension  $\gamma^{AB} = 2\sqrt{\gamma^+\gamma^-}$ ;  $\gamma^{total}$ , total surface tension  $\gamma^{total} = \gamma^{LW} + \gamma^{AB}$  There was no significant difference in contact angles between 0.01 M PBS treated and cranberry juice treated PC184*bceK*. Hence, the surface free energy components remained fairly constant before and after cranberry juice treatment (Table 4-3). Moreover, water, diiodomethane, and glycerol contact angles of PC184*rml* changed more significantly than those of PC184*bceK* with cranberry juice treatment. When PC184*rml* was exposed to 9% cranberry juice,  $\gamma^{LW}$  varied from 37.92 to 41.18 mJ m<sup>-2</sup> and  $\gamma^{AB}$  increased from 29.80 to 50.92 mJ m<sup>-2</sup>.

#### 4.3.2 Gibbs free energy changes.

In 0.01 M PBS,  $\Delta G_{adh}$  was negative for PC184 and positive for PC184*rml* and PC184*bceK* (Table 4-4). This difference showed that EPS could facilitate a bacterial cell approach to polycarbonate surfaces, and consequently play an important role in bacteria adhesion. The similar  $\Delta G_{adh}$  values of PC184*rml* and PC184*bceK* in 0.01 M PBS suhahaggest that, in the absence of cranberry juice, the thermodynamic model cannot discriminate between these two mutants in terms of adhesion energy changes.  $\Delta G_{adh}$  values of PC184 were the most sensitive to cranberry juice concentration. The  $\Delta G_{adh}$  of PC184 peaked at 18 wt.% cranberry juice, jumping above zero, indicating the attachment behavior of PC184 to polycarbonate varied from favorable to unfavorable as the concentration of cranberry juice increased from 0 to 18 wt. %. In contrast, the positive  $\Delta G_{adh}$  observed for PC184*bceK* and PC184*rml* changed only slightly in the presence of cranberry juice, indicating unfavorable adhesion.

Table 4- 4 Gibbs free energy change of three bacteria strains in 0.01 M PBS and 9, 18 or 27

# wt. % cranberry juice

	Gibbs free energy change		
	$\Delta G_{adh}^{LW}$	$\Delta G^{AB}_{adh}$	$\Delta G_{adh}^{total}$
PC184			
0.01M PBS	$0.74 \pm 0.07$	$-12.07 \pm 0.08$	-11.33±0.15
9 wt.% CBJ	0.39±0.06	-4.86±1.75	-4.47±1.81
18 wt.% CBJ	$0.42 \pm 0.09$	$-0.40\pm0.44$	0.02±0.53
27 wt.% CBJ	0.36±0.08	-4.83±2.49	-4.48±2.57
PC184rml			
0.01M PBS	$0.78 \pm 0.07$	3.11±1.85	3.89±1.92
9 wt.% CBJ	0.83±0.11	10.54±3.37	11.18±3.48
18 wt.% CBJ	0.81±0.11	7.36±4.08	8.16±4.19
27 wt.% CBJ	0.75±0.12	4.85±2.59	5.60±2.71
PC184bceK			
0.01MPBS	$0.68 \pm 0.06$	5.97±2.46	6.66±2.52
9 wt.% CBJ	0.73±0.19	3.98±2.67	4.72±2.86
18 wt.% CBJ	0.80±0.11	8.37±3.37	9.18±3.48
27 wt.% CBJ	0.76±0.12	3.10±1.80	3.87±1.92

#### 4.3.3 Lifshitz-van der Waals and acid-base components of ΔGadh.

In order to compare the relative strengths of LW and AB interactions,  $\Delta G_{adh}^{AB}$ and  $\Delta G_{adh}^{LW}$  were estimated. As shown in Table 4-3,  $\Delta G_{adh}^{AB}$  values were much greater than  $\Delta G_{adh}^{LW}$  values, suggesting that Lewis acid-base interactions are stronger than Lifshitz–van der Waals interactions in controlling bacterial adhesion to polycarbonate surfaces. For the interactions between *B. cepacia* PC184 and polycarbonate,  $\Delta G_{adh}^{AB}$  became more positive between 0 and 18 wt. % cranberry juices, suggesting that bacterial adhesion became more unfavorable as the percentage of cranberry juice increased in this concentration range. Although negative  $\Delta G_{adh}$  was observed when cranberry juice concentration increased to 27 wt.%, the  $\Delta G_{adh}$  of 27 wt.% cranberry juice was still higher than the control. The general tendency was clear that the presence of cranberry juice increased the  $\Delta G_{adh}$  of PC184.

## 4.4 Adhesion experiments in flow cells.

Parallel plate flow cell experiments were performed to determine the effect of cranberry juice in preventing bacterial initial adhesion to biomaterial surfaces. As shown in Figure 4-2, the presence of EPS on wild type strain PC184 increased bacterial adhesion over the mutant strains PC184*rml* with little EPS and PC184*bceK* with no EPS. The presence of cranberry juice had little impact on the deposition behavior of EPS deficient strains PC184*bceK* and PC184*rml*. However, the adhesion behavior of EPS producer PC184 was significantly

impacted by the addition of cranberry juice despite the slightly reduced surface charge indicated by zeta potential measurements (Figure 4-1). Our results showed that 9 wt. % cranberry juice reduced the adhesion of EPS producer PC184 by 2.5 log units 10 min after the experiment started. This study revealed that the antiadhesion impact of cranberry juice was more effective on EPS producing strain PC184 than on its EPS deficient counterparts. Specific components in cranberry juice may interact with and alter bacterial surface EPS causing EPS producing strain PC184 to be less adhesive.



Figure 4- 2 Adhesion behaviors of three *B. cepacia* bacteria on polycarbonate disks in flow cells. Error bars represent standard deviations of four replicated experiments.

In general, a free energy calculation of the bacteria adhesion process provided results similar to the actual bacteria adhesion behavior under the study conditions. As shown in Table 4-3, in the absence of cranberry juice, the  $\Delta G_{adh}$  was negative for EPS producing strain PC184, indicating favorable adhesion. In the presence of 18 wt. % cranberry juice,  $\Delta G_{adh}$  became more positive indicating a reduction in affinity between PC184 and polycarbonate surfaces. For PC184 mutants,  $\Delta G_{adh}$  was positive in the absence of cranberry juice and at all concentrations of cranberry juice tested, and the value of  $\Delta G_{adh}$  was fairly insensitive to cranberry juice concentration. This result indicates that a thermodynamic model may be used to quantitatively explain cranberry anti-adhesive effects on bacterial cells.

## 4.5 SEM images of bacteria cells.

Figure 4-3 shows SEM images of three *B. cepacia* bacterial cells in 0.01 M PBS and 18 wt. % cranberry juice. As shown in Figure 4-3 (a, c, e), in 0.01 M PBS, PC184 bacteria contained the highest amount extracellular slimes on their cell surface. In the presence of cranberry juice (Figure 4-3b), PC184 bacterial cells and EPS became much rougher, indicating a considerable amount of cranberry components has bonded to the surface of bacterial cells and EPS. On the contrary, cranberry component sorption was not observed for the mutant bacteria PC184*rml* and PC184*bceK*.



(a)PC184 in 0.01 M PBS

(b)PC184 in 18% cranberry juice



(c) PC184*rml* in 0.01 M PBS



(d)PC184rml in 18% cranberry juice



(e) PC184bceK in 0.01 M PBS

(f)PC184bceK in 18% cranberry juice



(a, c, e) and in 18 wt. % cranberry juices (b, d, f). Scale bar = 1 $\mu$ m.

#### 4.6 Surface force measurements using an SFA.

A surface force apparatus (SFA) was employed to investigate the interaction between EPS and cranberry juice. 30–50 mL of 20 µg/ml EPS in 0.01 M PBS was injected between two mica surfaces in the geometry shown in Figure 4-4 (a). During a typical normal force measurement, the two mica surfaces were brought close to reach a "hard wall," which is defined as the mica-mica separation at which the thickness of the confined polymers becomes asymptotic with increasing normal load or pressure; then the mica surfaces are separated. The normal force-distance profiles determined during the approach ( $\bullet$ ) and separation ( $\bullet$ ) are shown in Figure 4-4. The initial force measurement was taken ~5 min after injecting the solution, and an adhesion force of -0.5 mN/m was measured during the separation. Successive measurements showed the same adhesion force. The hard wall distance shifted from ~5 nm for the initial measurement to ~30 nm after about t = 3.5 hours adsorption, while the adhesion force remained almost unchanged.

The normal force-distance profiles for two mica surfaces across 0.01 M PBS buffer with 4.5% cranberry juice (no EPS presence) are shown in Figure 4-5. The hard wall distance remained unchanged (~6 nm) even after injecting the solution for 2 hours, and only repulsion forces were measured.



Figure 4- 4 Normal forces F (normalized by the radius of the surfaces R) measured for two approaching and separating mica surfaces as a function of surface separation D, in a 0.01 M PBS solution of EPS (20  $\mu$ g/mL): (a) t = 6 min after injecting the EPS solution, and (b) t = 210 min after injecting the EPS solution.



Figure 4- 5 Normalized normal forces F/R measured on two approaching and separating mica surfaces as a function of surface separation D, in 0.01 M PBS buffer with 4.5 wt. % cranberry juice for (a) t = 8 min and (b) t = 120 min after injecting the solution.

Figure 4-6 shows the normal force-distance profile for a mixture of EPS and 4.5% cranberry juice in 0.01 M PBS. No adhesion was measured, while the hard wall distance was ~50 nm at t = 15 min, larger than the values measured for PBS solution with only EPS or cranberry juice. Evolution of the hard wall distances with time for the three different cases are summarized in Figure 4-7, which shows that the hard wall distances: (1) barely increase for PBS solution with 4.5% cranberry juice, (2) increase from ~5 to ~30 nm in 4 hours for EPS in PBS solution, and (3) increase from 50 to ~150 nm in 2 hours for EPS in PBS solution with 4.5% cranberry juice.



Figure 4- 6 Normalized normal forces F/R as a function of surface separation D, in a 0.01 M PBS solution of EPS with 4.5% cranberry juice 15 min after injecting the solution.



Figure 4- 7 "Hard wall" distance vs. time after solution injection between two mica surfaces (n.b. the "hard wall" is defined as the mica-mica separation at which the thickness of the confined polymers becomes asymptotic with increasing the normal load or pressure) for three different cases: EPS in 0.01 M PBS (■), EPS in 0.01 M PBS with 4.5% cranberry juice (●), and 0.01 M PBS with 4.5% cranberry juice (▲).

# **Chapter V Discussion**

# 5.1 Impact of surface EPS on bacterial surface characteristics.

We tested bacteria strains with three different EPS producing capabilities and observed significant variations in surface characteristics and adhesive behaviors in the absence and presence of cranberry juice. Our results showed that in 0.01M PBS, the presence of cepacian EPS reduced the absolute values of bacterial surface charge (zeta potential) and water contact angles indicating an increase in bacterial surface hydrophicility. Variations in bacterial surface zeta potential and contact angles among different bacterial strains may be caused by the surface characteristics of cepacian EPS, which is mainly composed of neutrally charged, hydrophilic sugars (Stack, 1988; Cescutti et al., 2000). *B. cepacia* are gramnegative bacteria whose outer surface membrane is mainly composed of lipid and protein (Hancock and Nikaido, 1978). With little or no EPS coverage on cell membranes, we expected that surfaces in the mutant strains PC184*trml* and PC184*bceK* would be more negatively charged and more hydrophobic than the wild type EPS producing strain PC184.

When cranberry was introduced into the cell suspension, the wild type PC184 strain manifested the least change in cell zeta potential, and all three bacteria yielded similar zeta potentials around -5 mV. In contrast, the greatest change in water contact angle was observed in the PC184 strain, and water contact angle values of all three bacteria strains were similar in the presence of cranberry juice. The equalized zeta potentials and surface tensions of the three bacteria strains

may be explained by the adsorption of cranberry components onto bacterial membranes and EPS. The changes in bacterial surface characteristics can further be explained by interactions between EPS and cranberry components as discussed in the following sections.

#### 5.2 Impact of cranberry components on bacterial surface EPS.

The adsorption of cranberry components on bacterial surface EPS may have caused the bacterial surface characteristics and adhesive capacity changes observed in our experiments. Previous studies showed that proanthocyanidins (PACs) from cranberry had a binding affinity to bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Delehanty et al., 2007; Johnson et al., 2008), however, little information is available on cranberry adsorption on bacterial EPS. Our SFA force measurements showed that the bridging force of bacterial EPS was attenuated in the presence of cranberry juice. We propose that these effects were attributed to the binding of components in cranberry juice to bacterial EPS. The hydrophobicity of the EPS is expected to change on binding with cranberry components and the polarity of the "modified" EPS would change as well, resulting in a decrease in adhesive forces between the solid surface and bacterial cells. The PC184 bacteria surface was then observed with SEM after treatments with 0.01 M PBS and cranberry juice. As shown in Figure 4-3, these SEM images offered direct evidence that cranberry components were able to absorb on the surface of PC184 EPS. To evaluate the impact of cranberry adsorption on bacterial adhesion, bacterial cells were treated with cranberry juice for 2 hours, washed with 0.01M PBS, and resuspended in PBS for the flow cell adhesion study (results showed in Table 5-1). A 2 log unit decrease in bacteria adherence to polycarbonate coupons was observed for bacteria treated with cranberry juice compared to untreated bacteria, indicating that cranberry components were retained on the treated bacteria and thus were positioned to inhibit bacterial adhesion to the polycarbonate surface.

Table 5-1 Adhesion results of PC184 treated with and without 18 wt. % cranberry juice

	Number of bacteria attached to the polycarbonate surfaces in flow cell (CFU/ml)
PC184 in 0.01M PBS	$6.7 \pm 1.5 \times 10^5$
PC184 treated by 18 wt. % cranberry juice and resuspended in 0.01M PBS	$1.3 \pm 0.6 \times 10^3$

Cranberry juice may reduce bacterial adhesive capacity by altering EPS conformation. EPS are composed of highly hydrophilic monosaccharides. Adsorption of cranberry components to these molecules might disrupt hydrophilic interactions, changing EPS length or folds, and thus reducing the affinity between cell and polycarbonate surfaces. Previous work on *E. coli* fimbriae revealed that exposure to cranberry juice resulted in a more compressed bacterial fimbriae (Liu et al., 2006).



Figure 5- 1 Illustration of how cranberry components affect and reduce bacteria adhesion by attaching to the bacterial EPS.

Cranberry components may also change bacterial adhesive capacity by removing EPS from the bacteria cell surface or by inhibiting EPS production. Although no literature is available on bacterial EPS removal, cranberry components have been found to inhibit the production and catalytic activity of matrix metalloproteinases (Ahuja et al., 1998) and to genetically reduce fimbria production (La et al., 2009). To test the effect of cranberry juice on EPS density, we extracted PC184 EPS before and after 2 hour incubation in 27 wt. % cranberry juice and measured the mass (protein contents displayed in Figure 5-2); there was no significant difference in mass values before and after cranberry juice treatment. As EPS was not removed from the bacterial surface during a 2 hour exposure to 27 wt. % cranberry juice, it was concluded that inhibition of bacteria/polycarbonate adhesion observed in the presence of cranberry juice was due to other interactions between cranberry components and bacterial EPS.



Figure 5- 2 Protein contents of EPS extracted from PC184 treated with and without 18 wt. % cranberry juice.

# 5.3 DLVO theory and bacterial adhesion.

DLVO (Derjaguin, Landau, Verwey, Overbeek) theory describes the force between charged surfaces interacting through a liquid medium. It combines the effects of van der Waals attractive forces and electrostatic repulsion (Bhattacharjee et al., 1998; Hermansson, 1999; de Kerchove and Elimelech, 2005). According to DLVO theory, less negatively charged bacterial cells are more prone than more negatively charged cells to attach to a negatively charged polycarbonate surface (Kim et al., 1997) due to the long-range repulsion between bacterial cells and the polycarbonate surface. In our study, the surface charges of all bacteria cells became less negatively charged in the presence of cranberry juice. However, the adhesive capacity of these bacterial cells was impaired in the presence of cranberry juice, indicating DLVO theory cannot be used alone to explain the observed bacterial adhesion.

Extended DLVO theory, which was developed to account for surface hydrophobicity when predicting the forces between two surfaces (Hermansson, 1999; de Kerchove and Elimelech, 2005), also failed to explain our results. Cranberry juice increased all three bacteria water contact angles indicating an increased bacterial surface hydrophobicity. The increased bacteria hydrophobicity was expected to facilitate cell adhesion to polycarbonate (water contact angle 62.61°); however, weaker adhesion was observed in experiments with PC184 and PC184*rml* bacteria.

Thus, it can be concluded that the adhesion of PC184 and its mutants was governed at least partially by one kind of non-DLVO mechanism (de Kerchove and Elimelech, 2005; Liu et al., 2007). Non-DLVO interactions that may govern bacterial adhesion including electron-donor and electron-acceptor forces between polar molecules (van Oss, 1994); steric repulsion and bridging interactions between polymers (Netz and Andelman, 2003; Huang and Ruckenstein, 2004) may be stronger than DLVO forces (Lee and Belfort, 1989) and hence may affect bacteria adhesion.

#### 5.4 Thermodynamic model and bacterial adhesion.

We applied the van Oss-Chaudhury-Good thermodynamic approach to model bacteria and solid surface interactions. A thermodynamic model of interactions in aqueous systems offers a straightforward examination of the cell surface adhesion energy change, and allows total energy to be decoupled into several component parts. The thermodynamic model has been used successfully by other researchers to predict nonspecific adhesion between bacterial cells and biotic and abiotic surfaces (Burgers et al., 2009). In the present study, cranberry treatment significantly reduced the adhesive capacity of EPS producing bacteria, while the adhesive capacity of mutants whose EPS were removed or reduced was only moderately reduced or not affected by cranberry juice. Our results showed that Gibbs free energy  $\Delta G_{adh}$  increased to values close to zero and became positive at the cranberry concentration of 18 wt.% for PC184. For both PC184*rml* and PC184*bceK*,  $\Delta G_{adh}$  values remained positive with little variation at all cranberry juice concentrations tested.

Agreement between flow cell studies and thermodynamic model predictions were generally good. However, there were quantitative discrepancies between Gibbs free energy values and observed adhesion phenomena. For instance, we predicted positive  $\Delta G_{adh}$  values for mutant bacterial adhesion but observed a low extent of mutant adhesion. Similar results have been reported in other studies (Vadillo-Rodriguez et al., 2005). In part, this observation can be attributed to inherent physical and chemical/charge heterogeneity of bacterial and solid surfaces, and the complex nature of bacteria-surface interactions which are not fully accounted for in the thermodynamic model (Chen and Strevett, 2003). Bacterial deposition may occur preferentially on energetically favorable sites (Gregory and Wishart, 1980), resulting in bacterial deposition even though the total energy change indicates unfavorable adhesion. Also, bacteria may attach reversibly to a surface at the secondary energy minimum, as discussed in previous studies (Tufenkji and Elimelech, 2005; Tufenkji, 2007). The thermodynamic prediction of adhesion potential based on physicochemical properties gives useful information about the possible real-life microbial behavior. However, mechanisms other than cellular physicochemical surface properties, such as the influence of fimbrae and production of EPS (Flint et al., 1997; Donlan, 2002), may determine bacterial adherence. Thermodynamic modeling only focuses on the initial and final status of cellular physicochemical surface tensions, offering no information about the actual process. In addition, bacteria may encounter an insurmountable energy barrier when approaching a solid surface (Ong et al., 1999), and may not be able to bind although the total energy change indicates preferable adhesion.

# 5.5 Implications of SFA adhesion measurement.

Adhesion forces were measured during the separation of two mica surfaces in EPS solution (Figure 4-4). The adhesion arose from bridging interactions between the two mica surfaces due to the adsorption of EPS; this is supported by

the sustained adhesion associated with increased hard wall distance with longer adsorption time. The SFA measurement shows quantitatively that the normalized adhesion between the EPS of PC184 in 0.01 M PBS buffer is  $F_{ad}/R \sim -0.5$  mN/m, or the adhesion energy  $W_{ad} = F_{ad}/1.5\pi R \sim -0.11$  mJ/m<sup>2</sup>. This value is close to the adhesion energy measured using atomic force microscopy (AFM) between EPS from *P. atlantica* cells and polymer membrane surfaces such as polyvinylidene fluoride, regenerated cellulose, and polyethersulfone (Fang et al., 2000; Frank and Belfort, 2003; Li and Logan, 2004).

Cranberry juice components do not have the same bridging or adhesive capabilities as EPS polymer, as shown in Figure 4-5. The small hard wall distance (~6 nm) remained unchanged with interaction time due to the confinement of EPS polymer between the two mica surfaces as previously observed for many other polymers (Israelachvili, 1992; Leckband and Israelachvili, 2001; Zeng et al., 2007; Zeng et al., 2007). Figure 4-5 shows that the bridging adhesion forces of EPS can be attenuated by addition of cranberry juice to the PBS solution. This demonstrates that cranberry juice reduces or prevents the initial adhesion of EPS and blocks biofilm formation. The larger hard wall distance for the PBS solution with EPS and cranberry juice (Figures 4-6 and 4-7) implies that EPS and cranberry juice components form aggregates. The aggregates were confined between the two mica surfaces during the approaching process but showed no adhesive capability, as previously observed for nanoparticles using an SFA (Akbulut et al., 2007; Min et al., 2008). The SEM images in Figure 4-3 show the changes in bacterial surface morphology

before and after interacting with cranberry juice. The bacterial surfaces became much rougher after interacting with the cranberry solution; this observation agreed with SFA measurements.

As illustrated in Figure 5-1, EPS mediate initial bacterial attachments to substrates or tissue surfaces and subsequent biofilm formation since they present at the outermost layer of the cell. Contact angle measurements, SEM, and SFA results were consistent with each other, and suggested that the binding of cranberry juice components to bacterial EPS blocked bacterial biofilm formation. Cranberry juice components bound to the outermost EPS layer of the bacterial cell forming a thin coating that showed no bridging adhesive capability according to SFA measurements. This coating significantly reduced the adhesion of bacteria cells to polycarbonate surfaces and prevented the formation of biofilm. Our study probed the adhesion and surface interactions of bacteria and EPS and tested the impact of cranberry juice on the initial nanoscale adhesion of *B. cepacia*. The results obtained in this study provide an insight into the development of novel treatment strategies to block the biofilm formation
## Chapter VI Summary and Recommendations for Future Research

In this thesis, studies were carried out to investigate the impact of cranberry juice on the adhesion of EPS producing bacteria *B. cepacia*, with a quantitative explanation for the role of cranberry juice in disrupting the binding between *B. cepacia* EPS and polycarbonate surfaces through a thermodynamic model and SFA measurements.

The adhesion experiment conducted in a flow cell revealed the effects of cranberry juice on *B. cepacia* adhesion capacity directly, validating our hypothesis on the anti-adhesive effect of cranberry on bacteria EPS. Further investigations on bacterial surface properties yielded significant changes in zeta potential and contact angle values of *B. cepacia* PC184, while those properties remained relatively constant for the PC184 mutants with a deficiency in EPS biosynthesis. Resorting to the thermodynamic model, the changes in bacteria surface properties were correlated with the bacterial adhesion process, and the effect of cranberry juice on preventing bacterial adhesion was estimated quantitatively. At last, in order to explore the actual impact between cranberry juice and bacteria EPS, SEM imaging and SFA measurement were introduced to make a thorough probe into the interactions between them. All experimental results were compiled together and analyzed to conclude the adsorption of cranberry on EPS and adhesion capacity debase.

Another achievement in this thesis was attributed to the set up of the thermodynamic model – SFA measurement system by which we could gain fundamental knowledge towards understanding on how certain factors prevents bacterial adhesion to surfaces. Our work provides evidence of the biophysical effects of cranberry juice on bacteria EPS–polycarbonate interactions, and this system can be adopted to investigate the effect of various factors (active compounds, ionic strength, pH, flow rates) on the bacterial adhesion in aqueous solution.

The work in this thesis points to several directions that deserve further investigation. The observations from this study are based on the model bacteria *B. cepacia*, which represents common Gram-negative bacteria, but may not present all bacteria. Future work can be done to investigate other EPS producing microorganisms, such as *P. aeruginosa*.

Another challenge facing the application of cranberry juice in various environmental systems is the lack of understanding on the active anti-adhesive compounds in the cranberry juices. It would be important to identify these active compounds in the cranberry juices, and identify the critical dosage necessary to impart anti-adhesive effects.

For further work, it would be interesting to explore the nature of the interaction or absorption between bacteria EPS and cranberry components. According to our results, the interactions between cranberry juice and EPS seemed strong and rapid, indicating the anti-adhesive effect acted immediately in the presence of cranberry juices. However, the detailed chemical bonds for the cranberry-EPS interactions are still unclear, hindering the further exploration and application of the active components in cranberry juices or its analogs. A thorough understanding of the chemical nature of the interaction will assist to explore the use of cranberry juice in preventing formation or removing biofilm on various materials.

## **REFERENCES.**

- Ahuja, S., Kaack, B. and Roberts, J. (1998). "Loss of Fimbrial Adhesion with the Addition of Vaccinum Macrocarpon to the Growth Medium of Beta-Fimbriated Escherichia Coli." *Journal of Urology* 159 (2): 559-562.
- Akbulut, M., Alig, A. R. G., Min, Y., Belman, N., Reynolds, M., Golan, Y. and Israelachvili, J. (2007). "Forces between Surfaces across Nanoparticle Solutions: Role of Size, Shape, and Concentration." *Langmuir* 23 (7): 3961-3969.
- Bartholdson, S. J., Brown, A. R., Mewburn, B. R., Clarke, D. J., Fry, S. C., Campopiano, D. J. and Govan, J. R. W. (2008). "Plant Host and Sugar Alcohol Induced Exopolysaccharide Biosynthesis in the Burkholderia Cepacia Complex." *Microbiology-Sgm* 154: 2513-2521.
- Bhattacharjee, S., Elimelech, M. and Borkovec, M. (1998). "Dlvo Interaction between Colloidal Particles: Beyond Derjaguin's Approximation." *Croatica Chemica Acta* 71 (4): 883-903.
- Brown, M. J. and Lester, J. N. (1980). "Comparison of Bacterial Extracellular Polymer Extraction Methods." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 40 (2): 179-185.
- Burgers, R., Cariaga, T., Muller, R., Rosentritt, M., Reischl, U., Handel, G. and Hahnel, S. (2009). "Effects of Aging on Surface Properties and Adhesion of Streptococcus Mutans on Various Fissure Sealants." *Clinical Oral Investigations* 13 (4): 419-426.

- Busscher, H. J. and Weerkamp, A. H. (1987). "Specific and Nonspecific Interactions in Bacterial Adhesion to Solid Substrata." FEMS Microbiology Reviews 46 (2): 165-173.
- Cerantola, S., Bounery, J. D., Segonds, C., Marty, N. and Montrozier, H. (2000).
   "Exopolysaccharide Production by Mucoid and Non-Mucoid Strains of Burkholderia Cepacia." *Fems Microbiology Letters* 185 (2): 243-246.
- Cescutti, P., Bosco, M., Picotti, F., Impallomeni, G., Leitao, J. H., Richau, J. A. and Sa-Correia, I. (2000). "Structural Study of the Exopolysaccharide Produced by a Clinical Isolate of Burkholderia Cepacia." *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 273 (3): 1088-1094.
- Chae, K. J., Choi, M., Ajayi, F. F., Park, W., Chang, I. S. and Kim, I. S. (2008).
  "Mass Transport through a Proton Exchange Membrane (Nafion) in Microbial Fuel Cells." *Energy & Fuels* 22 (1): 169-176.
- Characklis, W. G. (1981). "Fouling Biofilm Development a Process Analysis." *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* **23** (9): 1923-1960.

Characklis, W. G. and Marshall, K. C. (1990). Biofilms. New York, Wiley.

- Chen, G. and Strevett, K. A. (2003). "Microbial Surface Thermodynamics and Interactions in Aqueous Media." *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* 261 (2): 283-290.
- Costerton, J. W., Irvin, R. T. and Cheng, K. J. (1981). "The Role of Bacterial Surface-Structures in Pathogenesis." CRC Critical Reviews in Microbiology 8 (4): 303-338.

- Costerton, J. W. and Lashen, E. S. (1984). "Influence of Biofilm on Efficacy of Biocides on Corrosion-Causing Bacteria." *Materials Performance* 23 (2): 13-17.
- Cuatrecasas, P. and Greaves, M. F. (1980). *Receptors and Recognition, (Series B*). London, Chapman and Hall.
- de Kerchove, A. J. and Elimelech, M. (2005). "Relevance of Electrokinetic Theory For "Soft" Particles to Bacterial Cells: Implications for Bacterial Adhesion." *Langmuir* 21 (14): 6462-6472.
- Debeer, D., Srinivasan, R. and Stewart, P. S. (1994). "Direct Measurement of Chlorine Penetration into Biofilms During Disinfection." Applied and Environmental Microbiology 60 (12): 4339-4344.
- Delehanty, J. B., Johnson, B. J., Hickey, T. E., Pons, T. and Ligler, F. S. (2007).
  "Binding and Neutralization of Lipopolysaccharides by Plant Proanthocyanidins." *Journal of Natural Products* 70 (11): 1718-1724.
- Donlan, R. M. (2002). "Biofilms: Microbial Life on Surfaces." *Emerging Infectious Diseases* **8** (9): 881-890.
- Doyle, R. J. and Rosenberg, M. (1990). *Microbial Cell Surface Hydrophobicity*.Washington, D.C., American Society for Microbiology.
- Eydelnant, I. A. and Tufenkji, N. (2008). "Cranberry Derived Proanthocyanidins Reduce Bacterial Adhesion to Selected Biomaterials." *Langmuir* 24 (18): 10273-10281.

- Fang, H. H. P., Chan, K. Y. and Xu, L. C. (2000). "Quantification of Bacterial Adhesion Forces Using Atomic Force Microscopy (Afm)." *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 40 (1): 89-97.
- Ferreira, C. E. L., Goncalves, J. E. A. and Coutinho, R. (2006). "Ship Hulls and Oil Platforms as Potential Vectors to Marine Species Introduction." *Journal of Coastal Research* 3: 1340-1345.
- Flemming, H. C. and Schaule, G. (1996). Biofouling.
- Flint, S. H., Brooks, J. D. and Bremer, P. J. (1997). "The Influence of Cell Surface Properties of Thermophilic Streptococci on Attachment to Stainless Steel." *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 83 (4): 508-517.
- Frank, B. P. and Belfort, G. (2003). "Polysaccharides and Sticky Membrane Surfaces: Critical Ionic Effects." *Journal of Membrane Science* 212 (1-2): 205-212.
- Frolund, B., Palmgren, R., Keiding, K. and Nielsen, P. H. (1996). "Extraction of Extracellular Polymers from Activated Sludge Using a Cation Exchange Resin." Water Research 30 (8): 1749-1758.
- Geesey, G. G. (1982). "Microbial Exopolymers: Ecological and Economic Considerations." *ASM News* **48**: 9-13.
- Gong, A. S., Bolster, C. H., Benavides, M. and Walker, S. L. (2009). "Extraction and Analysis of Extracellular Polymeric Substances: Comparison of Methods and Extracellular Polymeric Substance Levels in Salmonella Pullorum Sa 1685." *Environmental Engineering Science* 26 (10): 1523-1532.

- Granhag, L. M., Finlay, J. A., Jonsson, P. R., Callow, J. A. and Callow, M. E. (2004). "Roughness-Dependent Removal of Settled Spores of the Green Alga Ulva (Syn. Enteromorpha) Exposed to Hydrodynamic Forces from a Water Jet." *Biofouling* 20 (2): 117-122.
- Gregory, J. and Wishart, A. J. (1980). "Deposition of Latex-Particles on Alumina Fibers." *Colloids and Surfaces* **1** (3-4): 313-334.
- Habash, M. B., van der Mei, H. C., Busscher, H. J. and Reid, G. (2000).
  "Adsorption of Urinary Components Influences the Zeta Potential of Uropathogen Surfaces." *Colloids and Surfaces B-Biointerfaces* 19 (1): 13-17.
- Hancock, R. E. W. and Nikaido, H. (1978). "Outer Membranes of Gram-Negative Bacteria .19. Isolation from Pseudomonas-Aeruginosa Pao1 and Use in Reconstitution and Definition of Permeability Barrier." *Journal of Bacteriology* 136 (1): 381-390.
- Hermansson, M. (1999). "The Dlvo Theory in Microbial Adhesion." *Colloids* and Surfaces B-Biointerfaces 14 (1-4): 105-119.
- Horan, N. J. and Eccles, C. R. (1986). "Purification and Characterization of Extracellular Polysaccharide from Activated Sludges." *Water Research* 20 (11): 1427-1432.
- Howell, A. B. and Foxman, B. (2002). "Cranberry Juice and Adhesion of Antibiotic-Resistant Uropathogens." Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association 287 (23): 3082-3083.

- Hsieh, K. M., Murgel, G. A., Lion, L. W. and Shuler, M. L. (1994). "Interactions of Microbial Biofilms with Toxic Trace-Metals .1. Observation and Modeling of Cell-Growth, Attachment, and Production of Extracellular Polymer." *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 44 (2): 219-231.
- Huang, H. H. and Ruckenstein, E. (2004). "The Bridging Force between Two Plates by Polyelectrolyte Chains." Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 112 (1-3): 37-47.
- Hughes, K. A., Sutherland, I. W. and Jones, M. V. (1998). "Biofilm Susceptibility to Bacteriophage Attack: The Role of Phage-Borne Polysaccharide Depolymerase." *Microbiology-Sgm* 144: 3039-3047.
- Israelachvili, J., Min, Y., Akbulut, M., Alig, A., Carver, G., Greene, W., Kristiansen, K., Meyer, E., Pesika, N., Rosenberg, K. and Zeng, H. (2010). "Recent Advances in the Surface Forces Apparatus (Sfa) Technique." *Reports on Progress in Physics* 73 (3): -.
- Israelachvili, J. N. (1992). *Intermolecular and Surface Forces*. London, England ; Toronto, Ont., Academic Press Ltd.
- Ivnitsky, H., Katz, I., Minz, D., Volvovic, G., Shimoni, E., Kesselman, E., Semiat, R. and Dosoretz, C. G. (2007). "Bacterial Community Composition and Structure of Biofilms Developing on Nanofiltration Membranes Applied to Wastewater Treatment." *Water Research* 41 (17): 3924-3935.
- J. Wingender, T. R. N. a. H.-C. F. (1999). *Microbial Extracellular Polymeric* Substances: Characterization, Structure and Function. Berlin/Heidelberg.

- Jacques, M. and Costerton, J. W. (1987). "Adhesion of Group B-Streptococcus to a Polyethylene Intrauterine Contraceptive Device." *Fems Microbiology Letters* 41 (1): 23-28.
- Jahn, A. and Nielsen, P. H. (1995). "Extraction of Extracellular Polymeric Substances (Eps) from Biofilms Using a Cation Exchange Resin." Water Science and Technology 32 (8): 157-164.
- Johnson, B. J., Delehanty, J. B., Lin, B. and Ligler, F. S. (2008). "Immobilized Proanthocyanidins for the Capture of Bacterial Lipopolysaccharides." *Analytical Chemistry* **80** (6): 2113-2117.
- Johnson, B. J., Lin, B. C., Dinderman, M. A., Rubin, R. A., Malanoski, A. P. and Ligler, F. S. (2008). "Impact of Cranberry on Escherichia Coli Cellular Surface Characteristics." *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 377 (3): 992-994.
- Jost Wingender, T., R. Neu, Has-Curt Flemming (1999). *Microbial Extracellular Polymeric Substances*. Berlin, Springer.
- Kim, K. J., Fane, A. G., Nystrom, M. and Pihlajamaki, A. (1997). "Chemical and Electrical Characterization of Virgin and Protein-Fouled Polycarbonate Track-Etched Membranes by Ftir and Streaming-Potential Measurements." *Journal of Membrane Science* 134 (2): 199-208.
- La, V. D., Howell, A. B. and Grenier, D. (2009). "Cranberry Proanthocyanidins Inhibit Mmp Production and Activity." *Journal of Dental Research* 88 (7): 627-632.

- Lagatolla, C., Skerlavaj, S., Dolzani, L., Tonin, E. A., Bragadin, C. M., Bosco, M., Rizzo, R., Giglio, L. and Cescutti, P. (2002). "Microbiological Characterisation of Burkholderia Cepacia Isolates from Cystic Fibrosis Patients: Investigation of the Exopolysaccharides Produced." *Fems Microbiology Letters* 209 (1): 99-106.
- Leckband, D. (1995). "The Surface Force Apparatus a Tool for Probing Molecular Protein Interactions." *Nature* **376** (6541): 617-618.
- Leckband, D. and Israelachvili, J. (2001). "Intermolecular Forces in Biology." *Quarterly Reviews of Biophysics* **34** (2): 105-267.
- Lee, C. S. and Belfort, G. (1989). "Changing Activity of Ribonuclease-a During Adsorption - a Molecular Explanation." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 86 (21): 8392-8396.
- Lee, J. V. and West, A. A. (1991). "Survival and Growth of Legionella Species in the Environment." *Journal of Applied Bacteriology* **70**: S121-S129.
- Lessie, T. G., Hendrickson, W., Manning, B. D. and Devereux, R. (1996).
  "Genomic Complexity and Plasticity of Burkholderia Cepacia." *Fems Microbiology Letters* 144 (2-3): 117-128.
- Li, B. K. and Logan, B. E. (2004). "Bacterial Adhesion to Glass and Metal-Oxide Surfaces." *Colloids and Surfaces B-Biointerfaces* **36** (2): 81-90.
- Liu, H. and Fang, H. H. P. (2002). "Extraction of Extracellular Polymeric Substances (Eps) of Sludges." *Journal of Biotechnology* 95 (3): 249-256.
- Liu, Y., Black, M. A., Caron, L. and Camesano, T. A. (2006). "Role of Cranberry Juice on Molecular-Scale Surface Characteristics and

Adhesion Behavior of Escherichia Coli." *Biotechnol Bioeng* **93** (2): 297-305.

- Liu, Y., Gallardo-Moreno, A. M., Pinzon-Arango, P. A., Reynolds, Y., Rodriguez, G. and Camesano, T. A. (2008). "Cranberry Changes the Physicochemical Surface Properties of E. Coli and Adhesion with Uroepithelial Cells." *Colloids and Surfaces B-Biointerfaces* 65 (1): 35-42.
- Liu, Y. and Li, J. (2008). "Role of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Biofilm in the Initial Adhesion, Growth and Detachment of Escherichia Coli in Porous Media." *Environmental Science & Technology* 42 (2): 443-449.
- Liu, Y., Yang, C. H. and Li, J. (2007). "Influence of Extracellular Polymeric Substances on Pseudomonas Aeruginosa Transport and Deposition Profiles in Porous Media." *Environmental Science & Technology* 41 (1): 198-205.
- Liu, Y., Yang, C. H. and Li, J. (2008). "Adhesion and Retention of a Bacterial Phytopathogen Erwinia Chrysanthemi in Biofilm-Coated Porous Media." *Environmental Science & Technology* 42 (1): 159-165.
- Liu, Y., Zhang, W., Sileika, T., Warta, R., Cianciotto, N. P. and Packman, A.
  (2009). "Role of Bacterial Adhesion in the Microbial Ecology of Biofilms in Cooling Tower Systems." *Biofouling* 25 (3): 241-253.
- Liu, Y. T., Black, M. A., Caron, L. and Camesano, T. A. (2006). "Role of Cranberry Juice on Molecular-Scale Surface Characteristics and Adhesion Behavior of Escherichia Coli." *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 93 (2): 297-305.

- Lynch, K. H. and Dennis, J. J. (2008). "Development of a Species-Specific Fur Gene-Based Method for Identification of the Burkholderia Cepacia Complex." *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 46 (2): 447-455.
- Mahenthiralingam, E., Urban, T. A. and Goldberg, J. B. (2005). "The Multifarious, Multireplicon Burkholderia Cepacia Complex." *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 3 (2): 144-156.
- Mara, D. D. and Horan, N. J. (2003). Handbook of Water and Wastewater Microbiology. San Diego, Academic Press.
- Mayer, C., Moritz, R., Kirschner, C., Borchard, W., Maibaum, R., Wingender, J. and Flemming, H. C. (1999). "The Role of Intermolecular Interactions: Studies on Model Systems for Bacterial Biofilms." *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 26 (1): 3-16.
- Miller, R., Treppo, S., Voigt, A., Zingg, W. and Neumann, A. W. (1993).
  "Contact-Angle Kinetics of Human Albumin Solutions at Solid-Surfaces." *Colloids and Surfaces* 69 (4): 203-208.
- Min, Y. J., Akbulut, M., Kristiansen, K., Golan, Y. and Israelachvili, J. (2008).
  "The Role of Interparticle and External Forces in Nanoparticle Assembly." *Nature Materials* 7 (7): 527-538.
- Mirelman, D. (1986). Microbial Lectins and Agglutinins : Properties and Biological Activity. New York, Wiley.
- Moreira, L. M., Videira, P. A., Sousa, S. A., Leitao, J. H., Cunha, M. V. and Sa-Correia, I. (2003). "Identification and Physical Organization of the Gene Cluster Involved in the Biosynthesis of Burkholderia Cepacia Complex

Exopolysaccharide." *Biochemical and Biophysical Research* Communications **312** (2): 323-333.

- Netz, R. R. and Andelman, D. (2003). "Neutral and Charged Polymers at Interfaces." *Physics Reports-Review Section of Physics Letters* 380 (1-2): 1-95.
- Nickel, J. C., Wright, J. B., Ruseska, I., Marrie, T. J., Whitfield, C. and Costerton, J. W. (1985). "Antibiotic-Resistance of Pseudomonas-Aeruginosa Colonizing a Urinary Catheter Invitro." *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases* 4 (2): 213-218.
- Nielsen, P. H., Jahn, A. and Palmgren, R. (1997). "Conceptual Model for Production and Composition of Exopolymers in Biofilms." *Water Science and Technology* 36 (1): 11-19.
- Norberg, A. B. and Persson, H. (1984). "Accumulation of Heavy-Metal Ions by Zoogloea-Ramigera." *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* **26** (3): 239-246.
- Ofek, I., Mirelman, D. and Sharon, N. (1977). "Adherence of Escherichia-Coli to Human Mucosal Cells Mediated by Mannose Receptors." *Nature* 265 (5595): 623-625.
- Ong, Y. L., Razatos, A., Georgiou, G. and Sharma, M. M. (1999). "Adhesion Forces between E-Coli Bacteria and Biomaterial Surfaces." *Langmuir* 15 (8): 2719-2725.
- Parke, J. L. and Gurian-Sherman, D. (2001). "Diversity of the Burkholderia Cepacia Complex and Implications for Risk Assessment of Biological Control Strains." *Annual Review of Phytopathology* **39**: 225-258.

Pimente, G. C. and McClellan, A. L. (1990). *The Hydrogen Bond*. San Francisco,W.H. Freeman.

- Quintero, E. J. and Weiner, R. M. (1995). "Evidence for the Adhesive Function of the Exopolysaccharide of Hyphomonas Strain Mhs-3 in Its Attachment to Surfaces." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **61** (5): 1897-1903.
- Richau, J. A., Leitao, J. H., Correia, M., Lito, L., Salgado, M. J., Barreto, C., Cescutti, P. and Sa-Correia, I. (2000). "Molecular Typing and Exopolysaccharide Biosynthesis of Burkholderia Cepacia Isolates from a Portuguese Cystic Fibrosis Center." *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 38 (4): 1651-1655.
- S.P.Denyer, S.P.Gorman and Sussman, M. (1993). *Microbial Biofilms: Formation and Control*. Oxford, Blackwell Scientific Publications.
- Seed, K. D. and Dennis, J. J. (2005). "Isolation and Characterization of Bacteriophages of the Burkholderia Cepacia Complex." Fems Microbiology Letters 251 (2): 273-280.
- Sen, B. H., Safavi, K. E. and Spangberg, L. S. W. (1997). "Colonization of Candida Albicans on Cleaned Human Dental Hard Tissues." Archives of Oral Biology 42 (7): 513-520.
- Simoni, S. F., Harms, H., Bosma, T. N. P. and Zehnder, A. J. B. (1998).
  "Population Heterogeneity Affects Transport of Bacteria through Sand Columns at Low Flow Rates." *Environmental Science & Technology* 32 (14): 2100-2105.

- Stack, R. J. (1988). "Neutral Sugar Composition of Extracellular Polysaccharides Produced by Strains of Butyrivibrio-Fibrisolvens." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 54 (4): 878-883.
- Steinberger, R. E. and Holden, P. A. (2005). "Extracellular DNA in Single- and Multiple-Species Unsaturated Biofilms." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 71 (9): 5404-5410.
- Stephen M. Hammond, P. A. L., Andrew N. Rycroft (1984). The Bacterial Cell Surface. Washington, D.C., Hapitan Szabo Publisher.
- Stokes, V. K. (1995). "Thermoplastics as Engineering Materials: The Mechanics, Materials, Design, Processing Link." *Journal of Engineering Materials* and Technology-Transactions of the Asme 117 (4): 448-455.
- Tchobanoglous, G., Burton, F. L., Stensel, H. D. and Eddy, M. (2003). *Wastewater Engineering : Treatment and Reuse*. Boston, McGraw-Hill.
- Tufenkji, N. (2007). "Modeling Microbial Transport in Porous Media: Traditional Approaches and Recent Developments." Advances in Water Resources 30 (6-7): 1455-1469.
- Tufenkji, N. and Elimelech, M. (2005). "Breakdown of Colloid Filtration Theory: Role of the Secondary Energy Minimum and Surface Charge Heterogeneities." *Langmuir* 21 (3): 841-852.
- Tuomanen, E. (1986). "Piracy of Adhesins Attachment of Superinfecting Pathogens to Respiratory Cilia by Secreted Adhesins of Bordetella-Pertussis." *Infection and Immunity* 54 (3): 905-908.

- Urbain, V., Block, J. C. and Manem, J. (1993). "Bioflocculation in Activated-Sludge - an Analytic Approach." *Water Research* **27** (5): 829-838.
- Vadillo-Rodriguez, V., Busscher, H. J., van der Mei, H. C., de Vries, J. and Norde, W. (2005). "Role of Lactobacillus Cell Surface Hydrophobicity as Probed by Afm in Adhesion to Surfaces at Low and High Ionic Strength." *Colloids and Surfaces B-Biointerfaces* 41 (1): 33-41.
- van Oss, C. J. (1994). Interfacial Forces in Aqueous Media. New York, Marcel Dekker, Inc.
- van Oss, C. J., Chaudhury, M. K. and Good, R. J. (1987). "Monopolar Surfaces." Advances in Colloid and Interface Science **28** (1): 35-64.
- Vanloosdrecht, M. C. M., Lyklema, J., Norde, W., Schraa, G. and Zehnder, A. J.
  B. (1987). "The Role of Bacterial-Cell Wall Hydrophobicity in Adhesion." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 53 (8): 1893-1897.
- Vinion-Dubiel, A. D. and Goldberg, J. B. (2003). "Lipopolysaccharide of Burkholderia Cepacia Complex." *Journal of Endotoxin Research* 9 (4): 201-213.
- Whelan, A. and Regan, F. (2006). "Antifouling Strategies for Marine and Riverine Sensors." *Journal of Environmental Monitoring* 8 (9): 880-886.
- Williams, C. J. and Edyvean, R. G. J. (1998). "An Investigation of the Biological Fouling in the Filtration of Seawater." *Water Science and Technology* 38 (8-9): 309-316.
- Williams, M. M. and Braun-Howland, E. B. (2003). "Growth of Escherichia Coli in Model Distribution System Biofilms Exposed to Hypochlorous Acid

or Monochloramine." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **69** (9): 5463-5471.

- Wisniewski, N. and Reichert, M. (2000). "Methods for Reducing Biosensor Membrane Biofouling." *Colloids and Surfaces B-Biointerfaces* 18 (3-4): 197-219.
- Wong, I. and Ho, C. M. (2009). "Surface Molecular Property Modifications for Poly(Dimethylsiloxane) (Pdms) Based Microfluidic Devices." *Microfluidics and Nanofluidics* 7 (3): 291-306.
- Wu, V. C. H., Qiu, X. J., de los Reyes, B. G., Lin, C. S. and Pan, Y. P. (2009).
  "Application of Cranberry Concentrate (Vaccinium Macrocarpon) to Control Escherichia Coli O157:H7 in Ground Beef and Its Antimicrobial Mechanism Related to the Downregulated Slp, Hdea and Cfa." *Food Microbiology* 26 (1): 32-38.
- Zeng, H., Tian, Y., Anderson, T. H., Tirrell, M. and Israelachvili, J. N. (2008).
  "New Sfa Techniques for Studying Surface Forces and Thin Film Patterns Induced by Electric Fields." *Langmuir* 24 (4): 1173-1182.
- Zeng, H., Tian, Y., Zhao, B., Tirrell, M. and Israelachvili, J. (2007). "Transient Surface Patterns and Instabilities at Adhesive Junctions of Viscoelastic Films." *Macromolecules* 40 (23): 8409-8422.
- Zeng, H. B., Maeda, N., Chen, N. H., Tirrell, M. and Israelachvili, J. (2006).
   "Adhesion and Friction of Polystyrene Surfaces around Tg." *Macromolecules* 39 (6): 2350-2363.

Zeng, H. B., Zhao, B. X., Tian, Y., Tirrell, M., Leal, L. G. and Israelachvili, J. N. (2007). "Transient Surface Patterns During Adhesion and Coalescence of Thin Liquid Films." *Soft Matter* **3** (1): 88-93.